
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

LB/COUNCIL/AG 

Please ask for: Lorraine Bush, Democratic Services Manager 
 

16 October 2020 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL - 26 OCTOBER 2020 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Council on Monday, 26th October, 2020 at 
6.30 pm 

 
This will be a meeting held in line with The Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) England & 
Wales) Regulations 2020. 

 
Members joining instructions to follow. 
 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   MINUTES                                                                                     (Pages 1 - 12) 
 

 To sign the minutes of the Extraordinary Meeting of the Council and the 
ordinary Meeting of the Council, held on 10 August 2020.  
 

B.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C.   COMMUNICATIONS  
 

 To receive communications (if any) from the Mayor and the Chief Executive. 
 

Public Document Pack



D.   DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS  
 

E.   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS  
 

 To answer questions (if any) from elected members pursuant to Rule 11 of 
the Council’s Rules of Procedure (as amended by the Protocol and 
Procedure Rules for remote Meetings. 
Questions for Members must be received by 5pm two clear working days 
prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this is 5pm Wednesday 21 
October 2020. 
 

F.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 To answer questions (if any) from members of the public pursuant to Rule 10 
of the Council’s Rules of Procedure (as amended by the Protocol and 
Procedure Rules for Remote Meetings). 
Questions by members of the public must be received by 5pm two clear 
working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting 
is 5pm Wednesday 21 October 2020. 
 

G.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 To receive declarations by Members of any interests in respect of item on 
the agenda. 
 

 
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 
 

1   REFERRAL FROM CALL-IN  - PE21 THE NEXT STEPS               (Pages 13 - 28) 
 

 (Report by the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy). 

 
2   TOWN INVESTMENT PLAN                                                            (Pages 29 - 86) 

 
 (Report by the Deputy Chief Executive – Place) 

 
3   REVIEW OF APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, CHAIRMANSHIPS AND 

EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS                                                       (Pages 87 - 98) 
 

 (Report by the Monitoring Officer)  
 
 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two 
clear working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is  
5p.m. on Wednesday 21 October 2020. 

 

 
 
 
 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Telephone 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the extraordinary meeting of the Boston Borough Council held remotely via Zoom, on 
Monday, 10th August, 2020 at 6.00 pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Anton Dani), in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM, Alan Bell, 
Peter Bedford, David Brown, George Cornah, Anne Dorrian, Viven Edge, 
Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Jonathan Noble, 
Frank Pickett, Brian Rush, Chelcei Trafford, Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner, 
Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson, Judith Welbourn, Nigel Welton, Colin Woodcock and 
Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Joint Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (Place) & Monitoring Officer, Deputy 
Chief Executive (Strategy), Chief Finance Officer and S151 Officer, Democratic Services 
Manager, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Democratic Services Officer, Principal IT 
Officer and IT Projects and Development Officer 
 
90   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Michael Cooper and Martin 
Howard.   
 
91   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 
92   MOTION ON NOTICE 

 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 14, a Motion on Notice had been submitted. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Peter Bedford and seconded by Councillor Brian 
Rush that; 
 
This Council calls for a vote of no confidence in the current Leader and elects 
Councillor Stephen Woodliffe as Leader of the Council until May 2023. 
 
In responding to the nomination Councillor Woodliffe thanked the proposer and 
seconder and stated that the performance of the current leadership required addressing 
and higher standards observed, and he would be pleased to form a new administration. 
 
The Council had not been aware of the plans for the Strategic Alliance until May 2020, 
when negotiations had apparently been on-going for eighteen months previously.  This 
went against the Nolan principles of accountability and transparency, and was a betrayal 
by the administration.  
 
The Strategic Alliance process had left staff feeling marginalised and isolated, 
particularly those who were working from home without daily contact with colleagues, 
and caused concern about their future employment.  

Page 1

Agenda Item A.



 
Members referred to the appointment of four Leaders in the past year, and commented 
that the situation could not continue.  It was important that all Members supported 
whoever was appointed as Leader and that person remained as Leader for the rest of 
the Council term, for the good of Boston. 
 
Going forward it would be important that any negotiations relating to local government 
reorganisation or devolution were shared with all Members and they were involved in the 
decision making process.  It was essential that all Members were fully aware of such 
matters and their entitlement to information observed in full.  
 
It was mentioned that the Cabinet system was not conducive to cross party working, as 
not all Members were involved in the decision making process.  Consideration should be 
given to returning to a committee system. 
 
In responding to debate, the Leader of the Council, Councillor Paul Skinner, stated that 
having been elected in February and dealing with the covid-19 pandemic since March 
had not been easy and difficult decisions had been required to be made.  
 
Some mistakes had been made with the Strategic Alliance process, but officer guidance 
had been followed and there had been no officer support in July.  Briefing meetings had 
been offered to opposition groups, but not all had attended.  
 
Members of the administration offered their support to Councillor Skinner as Leader and 
commended him on his hard work, and the help he had given to them, citing he had the 
best interest of Boston at heart and offered to work with all parties.   Reference was 
made to e-mails circulated criticising the actions of the Leader, which in some Members 
opinion bordered on bullying and hate crime.   
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council, Councillor Nigel Welton, confirmed that discussions 
were already being held regarding the Strategic Alliance when Councillor Skinner was 
appointed as Leader, and the project had been delegated to himself to progress.  
Councillor Welton accepted full responsibility for the timescales and negotiation process, 
understood mistakes had been made, but lessons had been learnt.  
 
In summing up, Councillor Peter Bedford stated that the Council had to join with other 
authorities to fight devolution in Lincolnshire, but not the way it had been done with the 
Strategic Alliance.  This was a failure in leadership.   All Members were working for the 
good of the Borough and its residents, Councillor Woodliffe would make an honest 
Leader, and bring the Council together. 
 
On being put to the vote the Motion was lost by 13 votes for and 14 votes against.  
 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting ended at 7.10 pm) 
 

Page 2



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of the Boston Borough Council held remotely via Zoom, on Monday, 10th 
August, 2020 at 7.20 pm (starting immediately after an Extraordinary Council Meeting) 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Anton Dani), in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM, Alan Bell, 
Peter Bedford, David Brown, George Cornah, Anne Dorrian, Viven Edge, 
Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Jonathan Noble, 
Frank Pickett, Brian Rush, Chelcei Trafford, Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner, 
Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson, Judith Welbourn, Nigel Welton, Colin Woodcock and 
Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Joint Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (Place) & Monitoring Officer, Deputy 
Chief Executive (Strategy), Chief Finance Officer and S151 Officer, Democratic Services 
Manager, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Democratic Services Officer, Principal IT 
Officer and IT Projects and Development Officer 
 
93   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meetings of the Council held on 10 June, 25 June and 21 July 2020, 
were taken as read and signed by the Mayor as a correct record.  
 
94   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Michael Cooper and Martin 
Howard. 
 
95   COMMUNICATIONS 

 
There were no communications. 
 
96   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were two questions from Councillor Brian Rush. 
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Last Friday one of this Council’s amenities, became the subject of an illegal 
encampment, when about 25 vans and caravans were allowed to arrive on Woodville 
Road Playing Field, presumably parking illegally.  As the Portfolio Holder for Parks and 
Open Spaces, would you explain to me:  
 

(a) why only one enforcement Officer was on call, and;  
(b) what actions were taken to reassure residents in the area that Boston Borough 

Council was actively involved in resolving the ongoing issues with the travelling 
community?” 

 

Page 3



Response by Councillor Paul Skinner  

“The Anti-Social Behaviour Team has one officer who covers Boston Borough Council 
area and one officer who covers East Lindsey District Council area, with a 22.5 hour a 
week part-time officer who supports both areas Tuesday / Wednesday and Thursday 
each week.  
 
With regard to the working week ending Friday 31st July (when the travellers arrived) the 
East Lindsey District Council officer was on annual leave, which meant one officer was 
covering both district areas. This is our standard officer coverage rota and has been 
since 2015.  
 
On Friday 31 July notification was received of arrival of encampment at 1.03 p.m.   A 
Section 77 Notice under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 – the power of a 
local authority to direct unauthorised campers to leave land, was served on the illegal 
encampment at 3 p.m.  The Section 77 Notices were served on each vehicle, 19 on site 
at that time.  
 
On Monday 3 August a summons to court for orders of removal of persons and their 
vehicles unlawfully on land, was served on each vehicle and occupant under Section 78 
of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994. 
 
On Monday 3 August a court date was granted for Thursday 6 August to hear the case 
and obtain the order for the direction and removal of the unauthorised encampment.  
The encampment then moved off the site during the evening of Thursday 6 August.  
 
The Council’s cleansing team undertook a deep clean of the site during the night and it 
was open again by 8 a.m. on the morning of Friday 7 August. 
 
Officers of the Customer Services and ASB Teams updated all callers who contacted 
the Council with the steps that had been taken, and would be taken once we had been 
court to obtain the eviction and removal order. Updates were also posted via the 
Council’s social media platforms.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Rush pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“No allowances were made for the distress caused by this incursion and the damage 
caused to equipment.  The pirate ship in the play area cost a lot of money had was used 
as a toilet. You need to talk to officers to make the site safe for the public.  It’s not good 
enough, we need to see better results in the future.”  
 
Response by Councillor Skinner 

“I share your distress, and will obviously push for legislation to change.  It is abhorrent 
that so much damage can be caused without fear of recourse.  Environmental solutions 
will be considered to make the site secure, fences may not be the solution. A worked up 
scheme will be presented to the Boston Town Area Committee.” 
 
 
 

Page 4



Full Council 
10 August 2020 

 

 
 

Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Councillor Skinner you have been a supporting advocate of this Alliance, and so one 
would expect you to have been the main cheerleader for Boston, its people and the staff 
of this Council. 
 
So are you yet in a position to tell us, who amongst Boston’s loyal staff, are destined to 
lose their jobs?” 
 

Response by Councillor Paul Skinner  

“I thank Councillor Rush for notice of his question.  Full Council is not an appropriate 
forum to discuss staffing arrangements, as this falls under the responsibility of the Chief 
Executive as Head of Paid Service.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 
11.6 of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“People are in limbo, not knowing what is happening.  It’s time you gave employees 
confidence in where the Council is going, confidence is key.  Workers will start to look 
for other jobs, you need to take care to keep our best officers.” 
 
Response by Councillor Paul Skinner  

“I concur we have fantastic staff. I held five briefing sessions with staff on the Strategic 
Alliance. We have an excellent Chief Executive and responsibility for staffing rests with 
him.” 
 
97   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
There were no questions from the public. 
 
98   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Councillor Alison Austin declared an interest in the report on Pavement Licences.  As a 
Member of Lincolnshire County Council she had taken part in debate on the matter at a 
meeting of their Full Council.  
 
Councillor Martin Griggs declared an interest in the report on Pavement Licences.  As a 
Member of Lincolnshire County Council he had taken part in debate on the matter at a 
meeting of their Full Council.  However, he was not affected by that decision and would 
approach debate with an open mind.  
 
Councillor Tom Ashton declared an interest in the report on Pavement Licences on the 
grounds of being a Member of Lincolnshire County Council, but had not previously 
expressed a view and would approach debate with an open mind.  
 
Councillor Paul Skinner declared an interest in the report on Pavement Licences on the 
grounds of being a Member of Lincolnshire County Council, but had not previously 
expressed a view and would approach debate with an open mind.  

Page 5



 
 
 
Councillor Anne Dorrian declared an interest in the Accelerated Grant through the 
Towns Fund report on the grounds of being an employee of Haven High Academy, 
whose scheme for a 3G pitch was included as an intervention project.  
 
Councillor Paul Skinner and Councillor Paul Goodale declared an interest in the 
Accelerated Grant through the Towns Fund report, on the grounds of being members of 
the Boston Town Deal Board.  The Monitoring Officer confirmed this would not preclude 
taking part in debate on the item. 
 
Councillor Tom Ashton declared that, with respect to the item on the Severance 
Arrangements for the Former Chief Executive, he was an Elected Member of East 
Lindsey District Council and had taken advice from the Monitoring Officer in respect of 
the agenda item.  He confirmed that he was appearing in the meeting as a Boston 
Borough Councillor and as the Ward Member for Old Leake and Wrangle, he would 
make a decision on the item as a Boston Borough Councillor and confirmed that Boston 
Borough Council was entirely on his mind. 
 
99   PAVEMENT LICENCES 

 
Councillor Yvonne Stevens introduced a report by the Head of Regulatory Services on 
the issuing of pavement licences being delegated to Lincolnshire County Council.  
 
The report stated that the Business and Planning Act 2020 had received Royal Assent 
on 22 July 2020.  The purpose of the Act was to support business recovery including 
making it easier, cheaper, and quicker for businesses to obtain pavement licences for 
the use of outdoor space during the summer and at other times. 
 
Sections 1 to 9 of the Act provided district councils in two tier areas the power to issue 
pavement licences until 30 September 2021.  Previously this was only a function of the 
County Council. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council had offered to discharge the function under the Act on 
behalf of district councils in Lincolnshire.  As licensing was a non-executive function, 
discharging the Council’s function required formal delegation by Council and formal 
acceptance by Lincolnshire County Council.  An extraordinary meeting of Lincolnshire 
County Council had been held on 3 August 2020 when it was agreed to accept such 
delegations. 
 
The potential volume of applications in Boston was considered by officers to be low, 
consequently application fees would be unlikely to cover the Council’s costs if it were to 
discharge the function directly.  
 
During debate concerns were raised regarding the safety of pedestrians, particularly 
those who were visually impaired or had disabilities, who may have difficulty navigating 
around street furniture or ‘A’ boards.  It was noted that Lincolnshire County Council 
already discharged this function and would have criteria and safety measures in place to 
address these concerns.  
 

Page 6



Full Council 
10 August 2020 

 

 
 

It was suggested that Lincolnshire County Council be requested to inform Borough 
Councillors when any pavement licences were issued for the Borough area, which the 
Portfolio Holder for Licensing agreed to take forward.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Yvonne Stevens, seconded by Councillor Jonathan 
Noble and  
 

 
RESOLVED  
 
1. That Lincolnshire County Council be delegated to discharge all of the 

Council’s functions relating to pavement licences contained in sections 1 to 
9 of the Business and Planning Act 2020. 

 
2. That the Head of Service / Assistant Director responsible for Licensing 

within Boston Borough be authorised to:  
 
 Make all decisions under sections 1 to 9 of the Act until the County Council 

formally accepts the delegation and is able to discharge the functions; and 
 
 Agree arrangements with the County Council regarding the administration 

of the delegation. 
 

 
 
100   ACCELERATED GRANT THROUGH THE TOWNS FUND 

 
Councillor Nigel Welton introduced a report by the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) 
providing an update on the Towns Fund and the allocated accelerated grant funding of 
£750,000 delivered through the mechanism of the Towns Fund to support the delivery of 
capital projects in the financial year 2020/21, that met the Towns Fund Intervention 
Framework and would have the greatest immediate impact to aid economic recovery.  
 
On 30th June 2020 the Prime Minister gave a speech and laid put plans for a ‘New Deal’ 
to support Britain’s recovery putting jobs, skills and infrastructure investment at the heart 
of a post Covid-19 economic growth strategy.   
 
On 1st July 2020, the Chief Executive received notification the Boston Borough Council, 
through the Towns Fund, had been selected to receive £750,000 in accelerated grant 
funding to support capital projects that would drive jobs growth, create further 
investment and had the ability to look to build a stronger and more resilient economy for 
the community.  The notification set out how the grant allocation had been calculated, 
potential project interventions and a requirement to respond by 14th August 2020 to the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) with project 
proposals. 
 
The MHCLG was particularly keen to see, in collaboration with the Town Deal Board, 
capital projects that responded to immediate challenges and supported the economic 
recovery including the repurposing of empty commercial buildings, open space 

Page 7



infrastructure, improvements to the town centre and, where an immediate benefit could 
be achieved, demolition or site remediation.  
 
The Town Deal Board was the vehicle through which the vision and strategy for the town 
was defined.  The Board, through a well-evidenced based Town Investment Plan (TIP) 
would set out a clear programme of projects, collaborating with partners and other public 
sector bodies to ensure a holistic approach to deliver sustainable long term economic 
and productivity growth. 
 
The Boston Town Deal Board were advised of the accelerated grant on 7th July and 
encouraged to suggest potential interventions which related to the emerging investment 
plan.  
 
It was highlighted that consideration should be given to those projects that could 
facilitate and deliver sustained growth and return the maximum economic Benefit to 
Cost Ratio (BCR) for all of the community in the shortest amount of time.   Any project 
should be in a position to move quickly as funding was only available for the financial 
year 2020/21.   
 
Listed within the report were potential project interventions which met the criteria set out 
by the MHCLG:- 
 
Haven High Academy – 3G Pitch Development Project - £120,000 
 
Haven High Academy was applying to the Football Foundation for funding towards a full 
size floodlit 3G Football Turf Pitch.  The facility would support students and also provide 
opportunities for the local community groups to access high quality facilities.  The new 
3G pitch would complement existing facilities and promote the academy as the hub of 
the local community.  
 
The cost of a full sized pitch was in the region of £750,000 including professional fees 
and contingency.  The academy would be using part of their capital reserves towards 
the project, and seeking other funding to contribute to the partnership funding required.  
The contribution requested from the Towns Fund was £120,000. 
 
Boston College Digital, Transport and Logistics Academy - £182,976 
 
Boston College’s Digital, Transport and Logistics Academy (DTLA) was proposed to 
introduce new courses that would provide skills training for Lincolnshire’s long 
established logistics and transportation industry with a focus on digital innovation and 
technologies for the future. The Academy was due for completion in November 2020. 
 
As part of the work of the Town Deal Board, there was ongoing consultation with the 
logistics industry and the Port of Boston.  The valuable engagement included working 
with employers to map the current and future provision to meet skills needs, both locally 
and nationally to ensure that the facilities implemented and course delivered were 
relevant to the employment opportunities available and enabled industries to continue to 
grow and develop. 
 
As a result of the engagement, Boston College had identified the essential equipment 
required to accelerate the support for skills and employment for young people and also 

Page 8



Full Council 
10 August 2020 

 

 
 

adult learners who may need to retrain as a consequence of the impact of Covid-19 on 
the employment market.  
 
The acquisition of the equipment and services would enable the full completion of the 
DTLA which was a GLLEP funded project and destined to support the skills within the 
key sectors of ports and logistics.  
 
Boston Town Heritage Projects - £277,700  
 
The Boston Townscape Heritage Project would significantly enhance the eastern area of 
the town’s historic market place for the benefit of local businesses, community and 
visitors to the town. 
 
Boston’s rich and unique historic environment, dating from the medieval period to the 
2th century, would be explored, celebrated and conserved through a scheme of capital 
works and innovative activity programme. 
 
Three individual projects had been identified for support from the accelerated grant 
funding totalling £272,250 and together with an amount for promotional materials and 
activity in support of the project totalling £5,450. 
 

 16 Market Place – Had been granted listed building consent and planning 
permission. It had been out to tender and was currently awaiting a final tender 
return.  

 17 Market Place – Planning permissions had been granted, the tender process 
was also complete and the project was currently awaiting a grant offer so works 
could proceed on site. 

 8 Dolphin Lane – Planning permissions had been granted and it was currently out 
to tender.  

 Publicity and promotion for all of the above to include the Accelerator Fund and 
the Boston Town Deal within the wider project funding partnership.  

 
Experience Boston: Travel, Trade and Influence - £80,000 
 
The project would build on an increased local, regional, national and international profile 
of the town and port as a quality historic and cultural visitor destination, bringing wider 
benefits to local visitor economies and driving increased opportunities for investment.  
 
This would be a significant opportunity to add to current public realm improvements 
within Boston, helping inform locals and visitors to Boston’s rich heritage, and build on 
the placebrand, wayfinding and design toolkit developed in the successful HLF project 
‘Boston: Explore and Discover’. 
 
PE21 Feasibility Funding - £50,000 
 
To test and underpin the interventions, recommendations and the viability of the PE21 
Masterplan and market demand post Covid-19, a feasibility study was required to be 
commissioned to fully understand the sustainable and economic potential the PE21 
vision could deliver. 
 

Page 9



The report would consider current and projected future uses and market demands, 
which would ensure a more robust assessment on uses, values and deliverability to 
enable a better and clearer policy on approach and opportunity.  
 
 
The Sanctuary, Restore Church - £200,000 
 
The Sanctuary would be an inclusive community hub that focused on supporting 
homeless and vulnerable people in the broadest sense, providing a range of services 
and opportunities to support people into accommodation, training, education and work. 
 
As a project the Sanctuary would seek to provide: 
 

 Self-contained accommodation with support. 

 Emergency access accommodation to support the most vulnerable within the 
community. 

 A Community Café offering training and volunteering opportunities as well as 
a revenue source to support the wider project. 

 A Community Supermarket, that like the café, would offer training, skills 
development and practical opportunities to the community, residents of the 
accommodation, as well as providing food schemes to help individuals and 
families in need. 

 Multi-agency space where support, training, advice and advocacy could be 
delivered. 

 Adaptive and inclusive spaces that could be used by small social enterprise 
and clubs. 

 The total cost of the project had been assessed at just under £1.5 million 
(including contingency).     

 
A suitable premise for sale had been identified within the PE21 area and discussions 
commenced with the agent.  Funding of £200,000 was being sought from the Towns 
Fund towards the purchase cost of £650,000.  The remainder of the purchase cost 
would be funded by social investment from a provider with whom the Church had a 
strong existing relationship. 
 
The projects selected were seeking to maximise the impact the funding stream could 
have on the greatest number of residents within the Borough.  These included an 
emphasis on skills and education, the quality of the town centre offer through enhancing 
the heritage offer, the promotion of Boston as a place to visit, support for the most 
vulnerable residents and improving the quality of the health of the Borough.  
 
This would only happen if the Council agreed the identified projects aligned to, or had a 
relationship with, the emerging TIP.  Written confirmation was required to be submitted 
to MHCLG by 14 August 2020, outlining the potential projects, and agreement from the 
Council’s Section 151 Officer that any spend drawn down from the accelerated grant, 
represented good value for money, could be delivered in the financial year 2020/21 and 
was in line with the Towns Fund Intervention Framework.  
 
The report had been considered by the Boston Town Area Committee at its meeting on 
5 August 2020, and the proposed projects endorsed. 
 

Page 10



Full Council 
10 August 2020 

 

 
 

Members welcomed the report, expressed their support for the potential project 
interventions and for the bid to be submitted to MHCLG by 14 August 2020.  
 
Council thanked the Town Deal Team for all the hard work and enthusiasm that had 
been put into bringing the proposals together.  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Nigel Welton, seconded by Councillor David Brown 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED  
 
1. That the sum of £750,000 Accelerated Grant funding to support capital 

projects  that respond to immediate challenges and support the economic 
recovery of Boston, be noted and included in the 2020/21 Capital 
Programme.  

 
2. That the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) be authorised to confirm in writing 

to Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government by 14th August 
2020 of the project proposals and that they were in line with the Towns 
Fund intervention framework as set out in the Towns Fund further 
guidance. 

 
 

 
(Having declared an interest in the above item, Councillor Anne Dorrian  

left the meeting during the debate and vote thereon) 
 
 
101   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Martin Griggs 
and 
 

 
RESOLVED that under Section 100A(iv) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business 
on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraphs 1, 3 and 4 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 
 
102   SEVERANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE FORMER CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
The Monitoring Officer presented a report on severance arrangements for the former 
Chief Executive.  
 
Council was reminded that at its meeting held on 21July, it had been agreed to defer 
consideration of the discretionary element of the settlement package until written 

Page 11



confirmation had been given from Mr. Drury’s advisor that the proposed terms would be 
full and final settlement.  The confirmation had since been received.  
 
It was noted that an additional payment was due under the statutory and contractual 
element for untaken leave. 
 
During debate Members paid tribute to Mr. Drury for his dedicated and loyal service to 
the Council over many years and wished him well for the future.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Martin Griggs 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED  
 
1. That payment of the discretionary element of the severance package as set out in 

the report be approved.  
 
2. That an additional payment under the statutory and contractual element of the 

severance package for untaken leave be noted.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting ended at 9.20 pm) 
 

Page 12



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: FULL COUNCIL 

DATE: 26 OCTOBER 2020 

SUBJECT: 
REFERRAL FROM CALL IN – PE21 THE NEXT STEPS  
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR NIGEL WELTON 

REPORT AUTHOR: DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE (STRATEGY) 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 
 

 

SUMMARY: 
 

At its meeting on the 9 September Cabinet resolved that the Deputy Chief Executive 
(Strategy) be authorised to communicate to the Principal of Boston College that the 
Council is minded to enter into an agreement to lease and a lease for the Geoff Moulder 
Centre in order to facilitate the development of the College’s Mayflower Centre project. 
This decision was called-in by four non-executive Members, in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 

At its meeting held on the 1 October 2020 the Corporate and Community Committee 
facilitated the Call-In and agreed recommendation 3 of the Call-in protocol; to refer the 
matter to Full Council for further debate. 

 

 

 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
N/A

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That Full Council considers the called-in issue in accordance with the call-in protocol and 
the recommendation from the Call-In meeting of the Corporate and Community 
Committee meeting, and… 
 

1. Determine that the decision should not have been called-in, in which event the 
decision of the Cabinet will take effect; or 

 

2. Refer the matter back to Cabinet for their further reconsideration setting out in 
writing the nature of the concerns of both the Call-In meeting and those of Full 
Council 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION: 
 

In accordance with the procedure as set out in the Council’s Constitution.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 1



REPORT: 
 
1. At its meeting on 9th September 2020, Cabinet received a report by the 

Deputy Chief Executive – Strategy relating to the PE21 Project and resolved 
that the Deputy Chief Executive - Strategy be authorised to communicate to 
the Principal of Boston College that the Council is minded to enter into an 
agreement to lease and a lease for the Geoff Moulder Centre in order to 
facilitate the development of the College’s Mayflower Centre project.  The 
minutes of the Cabinet meeting are attached at Appendix 1. 

 
2. In accordance with the established procedures the executive decision on the 

report was called in within the five day time period and by the stipulated 
number of Members. 

 
The reasons given for the call-in are: 

 
Inadequate consultation prior to the decision being made 
All Elected Members should have been consulted 

 
Absence of evidence for the reason  
All information relating to the project should have been made available 
 

The decision is contrary to the Council’s policy framework  
No presentation to the Corporate and Community Committee 

 
The decision is contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the 
Council’s budget 
No indication of costs in the 2020/21 Budget and MTFS 

 
A copy of the call-in form is attached at Appendix 2. 

 
3. At its meeting held on the 1 October 2020 the members of the Corporate and 

Community Committee considered the reasons for the call-in and agreed that 
the matter be referred to Full Council to allow further debate on the subject. 
 

(The minutes of this meeting are attached at Appendix 3) 
 

4. Full Council is asked to consider the called-in issue in accordance with the 
call-in protocol and decide whether the decision should not have been called-
in, in the first instance, or if it wishes Cabinet to reconsider further the 
comments of both the Corporate and Community Committee and of Full 
Council prior to Cabinet making its final decision. 
 
 
 

Page 14



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
 

Not relevant to covering report. 
 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 
 

Not relevant to covering report. 
 
 
CONSULTATION: 
 

Not relevant to covering report. 
 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

Appendix 1 Cabinet Minute (93) 

Appendix 2 
 

Call-In – activated  

Appendix 3 
 

 

Corporate and Community Committee Minute (47) 
 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

Name of Body Date  
 

Cabinet 9 September 2020 

Corporate and Community Committee 
Call-In meeting. 

1 October 2020 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
 

None  
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
EXERPT FROM CABINET MINUTES OF 9TH SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
 
93   PE21: THE NEXT STEPS 

 

 
DECISION 

 
1. That the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) be instructed to report 

back to the next Cabinet on the budget cost of the steps specified 
under paragraph 9 of the report, which are required to advance this 
proposal with pace. The report should identify the approach to 
procurement, which should reflect the particular priority and urgency 
that is to be accorded to this project.  
 

2. That the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) shall consult with the 
Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Assistant Director – Towns 
Fund to identify and procure those works that are needed to 
maximise the prospects of a successful Towns Fund bid, and shall 
take all necessary steps. 

 

3. That the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) be authorised to 
communicate to the Principal of Boston College that the Council is 
minded to enter into an agreement to lease and a lease for the Geoff 
Moulder Centre in order to facilitate the development of the College’s 
Mayflower Centre project.  

 

Portfolio 
Holder 
and 
Officer 
 
NW/TL 

 

 
REASON FOR DECISION  
 
The Deputy Leader introduced a report, which described the steps that needed to be taken 
to deliver PE21, an initiative that was the primary focus of Boston’s Towns Fund bid.  The 
Council had identified a 10-acre site in the vicinity of West Street, Lawrence Lane and 
Lincoln Lane for the initiative.  It had the potential to boost the economic performance and 
prosperity of Boston town centre, make it a more vibrant and attractive place for residents 
and visitors, give them access to better educational facilities and help them live healthier 
lives.  
 
The project had taken shape slowly. It was authorised in 2017 and a masterplan was 
produced early in 2018. COVID19 had caused it to stall. Critical design work, technical and 
viability studies had not been carried out. If it was to deliver what was promised, pace and 
resources needed to be injected, the concept needed to be validated by the market (or 
developed, so far as possible, to ensure that it did “stack up”) and partners fully engaged.  
 
The project also had be managed professionally and be subject to rigorous performance 
management. Primarily, the technical studies that needed to be carried out to support the 
Towns Fund bid would need to be procured under the Council’s urgency arrangements. 
Other work needed to be commissioned quickly and progress made, otherwise there was a 
real risk that the energy that had been generated would dissipate and threaten any prospect 
of delivery in the short term or at all. 

APPENDIX A 

Page 17



The report set out the work that should be commissioned in paragraph 9, as follows: 

(1)  Comprehensive cataloguing of interests in land. 

(2) Plotting of infrastructure within and across the site and assessment of the extent to 

which it will constrain development by dint of its location, condition and capacity. 

(3) Cataloguing of individual land uses and businesses, including an assessment of the 

extent to which they are consistent with the objectives of regeneration. 

(4) Systematic and comprehensive cataloguing of vacant and under-used land and land 

uses and businesses judged to be inconsistent with regeneration. 

(5) Specification of public sector development proposals. These must define precisely 

what is to be provided, by whom, where, when, at what cost and with what funds. If 

such clarity and commitment is not forthcoming, alternative proposals for public 

sector land should be defined and incorporated into a revised (alternative) 

masterplan(s). 

(6) There should be a rigorous assessment of the demand for alternative uses across the 

site as a whole and for individual parcels of land. The market must be understood.  

(7) Based on (1) – (6) development opportunities across the site should be identified. 

Development parcels should be identified and alternative uses specified. 

(8) Infrastructure costs must be identified. This will include the cost of strategic 

landscaping. 

(9) The viability of alternative uses of individual parcels of land must be rigorously 

assessed. 

(10) The masterplan should be iterated on the basis of (1) to (9). It should be subject to a 

final viability assessment. 

(11) A site acquisition and development strategy must be prepared, together with a budget 

cost and funding strategy. 

(12) A delivery plan must be produced. This might, but will not necessarily require, the 

preparation of design briefs. 

 
Councillor Welton gave credit to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Towns Fund 
team for the huge amount of work they had carried out in order to lay the crucial foundations 
for this project, which would bring great benefits to the town centre. The Deputy Chief 
Executive (Strategy) was now moving the project on at pace. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) addressed Cabinet and explained that one of the two 
flagship projects of PE 21 would be the development of the Mayflower Centre by Boston 
College, which would be a showcase for architecture and education and the gateway to the 
whole project. The centre would be located on the site of the Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre 
(GMLC). At a meeting that day, the Principal of Boston College had reported that the college 
needed confidence to go ahead to spend the significant amount of money it would take to 
work up the project. 
 
The GMLC was valued as the leisure centre, but the centre for healthy living was a fantastic 
concept, combining leisure and doctors’ surgery facilities. The NHS and the Council had 
drafted a clear specification of how it would look.  
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) then recommended Cabinet to give a firm indication, 
though not a binding final agreement, that the Council was prepared to enter into 
negotiations for agreement to lease the GMLC to enable Boston College to work up this 
flagship project to form part of PE 21. 

Page 18



Cabinet 
9 September 2020 

 

 
 

In response to questions, the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) confirmed that the land 
would remain within the ownership of the Council and would return to the Council at the end 
of life of the centre.  It was estimated that to develop the master plan would cost 
approximately £60,000, which was the going rate and the funding was there to be spent for 
this purpose.  Accelerated funding for the two flagship projects was separate and additional 
to that previously reported on 23rd of September.  The masterplan was excellent but needed 
developing and resourcing. Accelerated Funding of £90,000 was expected, some of which 
could be used to instruct consultants to consider how to devise a development proposal with 
viability for private companies to lever in money and business to turn the masterplan into a 
reality.  
 

 

 
OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  
 
None. 

 

 
RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
 
None. 

 

 
RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  
 
None.  

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

DRAFT C&C MINUTES OF 1ST OCTOBER 2020 – CALL IN OF CABINET 
DECISION – PE21: THE NEXT STEPS, DECISION 3 
 
At its meeting on 9th September 2020, Cabinet received a report by the Deputy Chief 
Executive (Strategy) on PE21: The Next Steps.  After debate, Cabinet made three 
decisions, which were set out in the Minutes and circulated to Members in the usual 
way.  The Cabinet report and Minute (93) were appended to the report as 
Appendices A & B.   
 
The Cabinet decision was: 

 

3.  That the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) be authorised to communicate 
to the Principal of Boston College that the Council is minded to enter into 
an agreement to lease and a lease for the Geoff Moulder Centre in order 
to facilitate the development of the College’s Mayflower Centre project. 

 

In accordance with the established procedure, one of the executive decisions on the 
report was called in within the five-day time period and by the stipulated number of 
Members.   
 
The reasons given for the call-in were: 
 

 All Elected Members should have been consulted prior to the decision being 
made 

 All information relating to the project should have been made available 

 No presentation had been made to the Corporate and Community Committee 

 There were no indication of costs in the 2020/21 Budget and MTFS 
 
A copy of the call-in form was attached to the report at Appendix C. 
 
The meeting had been arranged to enable the Committee to consider the called-in 
issue in accordance with the call-in protocol and decide whether the decision should 
be called-in (and referred to Cabinet or Council) or allowed to stand and take effect. 
 
Invited to address the Committee, the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) explained 
that the Chief Executive had tasked him six weeks previously to deliver the PE21 
project as part of the strategy for the regeneration of Boston. PE21 was especially 
significant because it was a critical component of the Town Fund bid, which was 
taking shape and would be presented to the Secretary of State that month. It was 
imperative to move forward with it. 
 
Once fully up-to-date with the current the state of the scheme, the Deputy Chief 
Executive (Strategy) had made this report to Cabinet. However, a significant amount 
of work needed to be undertaken in a short amount of time in order to persuade the 
Secretary of State that the bid was one that was worthy of investment in order for it 
to succeed.  In addition, if the bid was not successful, there would be a fallback plan 
to regenerate this important and prominent, under-used 10-acre site in the near 
future. 
 

Page 23



 

 

The specific decision that had been called-in related to the site of the Geoff Moulder 
Leisure Complex (GMLC).  Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) explained that this 
was not a decision as such; it simply indicated that the Council would contemplate 
the leasing of the site to Boston College in principle.  
 
The provisional master plan referred to a project to be advanced by parts of the NHS 
for the re-siting and combination of three doctors’ practices and the outpatients’ 
service of Pilgrim Hospital.  They wanted to bring these onto one site and co-locate 
them with a new leisure facility, creating a health and well-being centre focussed on 
the town centre, thereby moving the town centre away from retail and increasing its 
footfall.  
 
Health was not the only key driver for this project; improvement of skills was another. 
Boston College would provide a high level of skills facilities, so creating the 
Mayflower Centre. Boston College needed the confidence to start work and asked if 
the Council was prepared in principle to provide them with a site and Cabinet agreed 
that it was. This was not a decision; it simply indicated that the Council would 
contemplate it in principle. The matter was contingent on many things; for example, 
one factor was that Boston College would need to secure Town Fund monies. 
 
The four Members who had called in the decision then they gave their reasons for 
doing so as follows, in summary. 
 
Plans indicated that the GMLC needed a significant amount of investment, but did 
not show that the town centre health and well-being centre could replace its services.   
Specifically, there was no mention of a swimming pool, which would cost an 
enormous amount to replace. 
 
Whilst not opposing the development, there was significant concern about the GMLC 
being under threat. If it was handed over, the public would want a better facility to be 
provided ready on site. The Council had invested considerably in the GMLC to bring 
it to full working order and they did not want to lose it. 
 
The project had to be sustainable, yet the report did not indicate any certainty of 
funding going forward. 
 
There had been a lack of consultation with other Members and members of the 
public when it involved a significant decision. There was particular dissatisfaction 
that the details relating to this decision had not been reported to Cabinet prior to the 
meeting and had simply been announced at the meeting itself. 
 
Concern about the GMLC was compared to a previous Council decision to hand over 
the Peter Paine Sports Centre to Boston College for a peppercorn rent rather than to 
consider a deal from a private investor, which could have yielded significant sums. 
 
The Town Board Member reported that he had been aware of this project for a short 
time, though not in detail.  He had raised the points at Town Board meetings that this 
decision was a matter for Council, not Cabinet, and that the report did not outline a 
replacement pool, which must be provided before the demolition of the existing one. 
It appeared that the two projects, the Mayflower Centre and the health and well-

Page 24



 

 

being centre, had to be linked. It was presumed that the Mayflower Centre would be 
provided first, but this was not outlined in the report. The project was exciting, but it 
was disappointing that Members had not been informed and it had been announced 
unexpectedly at the Cabinet meeting. The whole Council needed to take ownership 
of this project or the bid would not succeed. 
 
Another signatory referred back to 2011 when the Council had undertaken a deal 
with Boston Swimming Club and the schools’ federations to save the GMLC 
following an outcry. The Council had invested a significant amount in the GMLC, 
providing solar panels, biomass boilers and rear gardens. As recently as two weeks 
previously there had been an announcement about new gym equipment at the 
centre. Now it appeared that the Council was simply handing the property over to 
Boston College. The report was clear that the project was only an aspiration. The 
Town Deal document had made no mention of the pool. A replacement pool had to 
be built first. 
 
In response, the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) agreed and confirmed that 
matters had proceeded no further than an agreement in principle because it was 
recognised that the Council would not countenance losing the GMLC until a higher 
quality facility was in place. The GMLC staff and the facility itself were impressive; 
they could not simply lose this. The Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) stressed that 
he understood and accepted Members’ views, but pointed out that a decision to 
demolish the GMLC had not been made.  
 
There would be up to £25m funding for Boston through the process, for which there 
was a timeline.  By 23rd September, a draft was needed that had to be signed off and 
they had to commission an architect to proceed with design work; therefore, they 
needed to know the Council would countenance leasing the GMLC site. Boston 
College was completely aware that this was not binding, as the lease would be 
contingent on a range of other things taking place, particularly the matter of securing 
funding for it.  
 
In addition, the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) agreed that could have been more 
consultation, but it had been necessary to take the matter forward promptly in order 
to submit the Town Fund bid. It was essential to persuade all Members that this was 
the best plan, in order for it to be passed by Full Council. The pandemic had delayed 
matters so there was a lot still to do and steps that had to be put in place. Expert 
advice had been obtained from Alliance Leisure that the cost of a replacement pool 
would be around £11-£14 million. 
 
It was confirmed that there was an error in the report and that the date on the master 
plan was correct, i.e. August 2019.  
 
The Deputy Leader explained that the project had been a concept in August 2019 
and that the Monitoring Officer and her team had worked very hard behind-the-
scenes, working with partners and keeping him up-to-date. It had involved a 
considerable amount of time-consuming, detailed work. Then, the Deputy Chief 
Executive (Strategy) was asked to take the project forward and had reported to 
Cabinet on the next steps; this was an interim report and the matter would go back to 
Cabinet before it went forward.  

Page 25



 

 

 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) responded to an assertion that the proposals 
in the report were the same as those reported in August 2019 and that the ‘clear 
specification’ referred to was not attached.  The NHS and Alliance Leisure had 
worked together and drafted a specification for designers to use; however, it was not 
yet fit for publication, though it could be provided for Members. The specification was 
work in progress, but it had been essential to draft it in order to cost the project 
properly. 
 
It was queried why there had been reference to the demolition of the swimming pool 
at Cabinet, where it had been described as the “gateway” to PE21.  The Deputy 
Chief Executive (Strategy) explained that the concept was evolving and required 
discussion and negotiation before it became reality. There was to be a Member 
briefing, which had been arranged at the earliest opportunity to update Members.   
 
A Member suggested recording Member briefings so Members who could not attend 
could view them later and the benefits of this were recognised. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) then answered questions about the PE21 
project in general and other specific aspects, such as the plans to relocate the bus 
station. There had been extensive consultation on the draft master plan: it had been 
published on the website and there had been significant participation by members of 
the public, partners and Councillors. 
 
The Deputy Leader stressed there had been no decision on the GMLC.  It was a 
Council asset and Full Council would decide its future. The Deputy Chief Executive 
(Strategy) had been asked purely to carry out discussions. 
 
A Member pointed out that the Council had previously considered outsourcing the 
GMLC and it was understood that it needed significant further investment and had a 
short life. 
 
In response, the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) confirmed that a contractor had 
provided a report with an estimate of £750-£800,000 as a one-off investment to put 
the GMLC in a state of good repair and £75,000 annual maintenance thereafter with 
additional costs. This was considered too low, but it gave an idea.  The Assistant 
Director – Assets would be asked to provide a more robust estimate. 
 
The Assistant Director – Assets confirmed that, taking into account the condition 
survey of 2018, this cost was an underestimation and, although this would bring the 
facility to good repair, it was not a refurbishment. It would take £2-2.5m to be re-
modelled and significantly upgraded. It had an aged fabric, which meant higher 
maintenance costs, and this would only extend its life in the medium term, extending 
its life to 7-10 years. Specialist advice would be needed regarding an estimate for a 
full refurbishment.  
 
In response to a question, the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) confirmed that it 
was a working assumption that, if the site was leased, Boston College would pay the 
costs of clearing the site and making it good.  
 

Page 26



 

 

Further comments from Members included satisfaction with the positive reactions of 
other Members, indicating that they were all committed to taking the town forward; 
recognition of the need to act at speed now that the matter had rightly been 
scrutinised; satisfaction with the responses of the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) 
and the Deputy Leader and the clear undertaking that nothing was going to happen 
to the swimming pool without the agreement of full Council, which was essential, as 
it was a valued and important asset; and appreciation that the proposal was to have 
a high quality and modern facility in its place. 
 
There was a query about the deadlines involved in securing funding, and whether 
any had been missed.  It was noted that PE21 pre-existed the Town Fund and, 
therefore, they had to be drawn together.  
 
In response, the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) set out the deadlines as follows: 
 
 5th October –   Town Board meeting 
 16th October – Final Town Board meeting to approve the Town Fund bid 
 19th October – Member briefing 
 26th October –  Report to Full Council  
 30th October –  Submission of bid 

 
The Principal of Boston College was a member of the Town Board and was well 
aware of Members’ concerns.  The Principal had proceeded to instruct their 
architects and communications continued. 
 
Some Members expressed satisfaction that the deadlines could still be met.  Some 
continued to stress that the GMLC must not be demolished until the development of 
the replacement pool was well advanced.  Members also discussed the Town Fund 
bid in general and concerns about Boston’s traffic infrastructure and the Into-Town 
bus service. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) explained that, as the full bid would not be 
submitted until 30th October, Full Council on 26th October would consider a report 
setting out what was an attractive package of fundable projects to secure Town Fund 
monies. There would be no decision regarding a commitment to the demolition of the 
GMLC; this was a separate decision contingent on money being available for a 
replacement pool. The Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) stressed that he had no 
authority to make this decision and reiterated that no contract had been entered into.  
He added that Boston’s traffic issues did not affect the PE21 project. The project was 
about making the most of the potential to access that part of town by public 
transport, foot or bicycle, as it was highly accessible by other means than cars. 
 
A Member expressed satisfaction with the acknowledgement of the lack of 
consultation and felt assured that there would be consultation in future.  Another 
expressed doubt and was concerned that the Council appeared to be handing over a 
significant asset when the Council’s financial situation was poor, instead of securing 
planning permission for houses and selling the site to a developer. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) stated that if the bid succeeded, the project 
would be set out in detail for Members to challenge. Boston was an area of low skills 

Page 27



 

 

and educational attainment. Boston College and its position within the Town Fund 
bid was intended to address this. The link to the health and well-being centre would 
address the poor level of health in the area by providing facilities to improve it. It was 
necessary to recognise that the two projects were linked and that this was the only 
sensible site for the Mayflower Centre.  
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) accepted the criticism that consultation 
should have been carried out and assured Members that it would be in future. The 
Chairman objected to this, asserting that the fault lay with the political leadership, 
and would not allow the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) to take responsibility for 
what he described as the political failure of the leadership.  Another Member voiced 
support for the Chairman’s position. 
 
It was then proposed and seconded that the decision before referred to full Council 
for debate. 
 
It was also proposed and seconded that the matter had been satisfactorily 
scrutinised and that he did not need to go to Full Council.  
 
The original proposal was put to the vote and it was: 
 

 
RESOLVED that the called-in issue be referred to Full Council for debate. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Full Council 

DATE: 26 October 2020 

SUBJECT: Boston Town Deal Board - Town Investment Plan 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Deputy Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Deputy Chief Executive (Place) 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 
 

SUMMARY 
 
To consider the Boston Town Deal Board's Town Investment Plan (TIP) prior to 
submission to the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG).  
 
Each Town Investment Plan includes proposals for up to £25 million to invest in 
regeneration, skills and connectivity to secure transformational levels of economic 
growth. The deadline for submission of the Town Investment Plan is 30 October 
2020. 
 
Following the agreement of Heads of Terms with MHCLG, towns will have up to 12 
months to complete comprehensive business cases for selected projects and submit 
a Summary Document to show that this has been completed in line with the agreed 
conditions and requirements in the Heads of Terms. Once towns have developed 
detailed business cases for their agreed projects and submitted all the required 
documentation as part of the Summary Document, government will carry out a high-
level assessment of the document before releasing funding. 
 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. To note the Town Investment Plan. 
 
2. To note the Chief Executive will submit to MHCLG the Town Investment 

Plan, as approved by the Boston Town Deal Board by the 30 October 
2020. 

 
3. To note that the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Boston Town Deal Board 

may make refinements to the Boston Town Deal Investment Plan. 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 2



 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The Town Investment Plan with project proposals totalling up to £25 million (in 
addition to the £13million of matched funding) for each town interventions will form 
the basis for a Town Deal - an agreement in principle between Government, the Lead 
Council and the Town Deal Board, confirmed in a Heads of Terms document. The 
Town Deal sets out a vision and strategy for the town and what each party agrees to 
do to achieve this vision. 

 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 

The Prospectus from the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) states that agreeing a Town Deal with investment from the Towns Fund of 
up to £25m per place will be dependent on Government receiving high-quality 
proposals that meet the objective of the fund and follow the further guidance 
published. 

The Boston Town Board has confirmed submission of the Town Investment Plan in 
Cohort 2, the deadline of which is 30 October. 

Failure to submit to the agreed deadline will impact the likelihood of funding 
remaining available due to the impact of COVID on the wider national economy. 

 
 
REPORT 
 
1. Background 
 

1.1. The Government invited 101 places in England to develop proposals for a 
Town Deal, forming part of the £3.6 billion Towns Fund announced by the 
Prime Minister in 2019. The Towns Fund is at the centre of Government’s 
ambition to level up this country and make it a better place for everyone to 
live and work. 

1.2. The Council was invited to act as Lead Authority in the preparation of a 
Town Investment Plan for Boston as the basis for entering into a Town Deal 
with Government. A fundamental prerequisite of a Town Deal is strong 
governance arrangements, which will be exercised through a Town Board.  

1.3. The Boston Town Deal Board was established to prepare a Town 
Investment Plan for Boston. The Board was structured to give full voice to 
local and community stakeholders to maximise the advantages, assets and 
opportunities that Boston as a place has to offer.  

Page 30



1.4. The Boston Town Deal Board includes a wide range of stakeholders, 
including local businesses and investors, public sector, the Member of 
Parliament, the Local Enterprise Partnership, educational establishments 
and community representatives.  It incorporates the breadth of membership 
as set out in the guidance published in November 2019. 

1.5. The authority is the accountable body only and has taken responsibility for 
ensuring that decisions are made by the Town Deal Board in accordance 
with good governance principles. As the lead council, we have developed a 
delivery team, delivery arrangements and agreements to support the 
development of an evidenced based Town Investment Plan and 
engagement with stakeholders, businesses and the local community. 

1.6. The Council is not the decision maker in this instance. It is the role of the 
Boston Town Deal Board to agree the Town Investment Plan. 

1.7. Publication of the members of the Boston Town Deal Board, information 
relating to the Board meetings and details of the evolving Plans are 
published on the Boston Town Deal website – www.bostontowndeal.co.uk  

1.8. Community, stakeholder and business engagement has been part of the 
development of the Town Investment Plans. The #MyTown initiative saw 
Boston come top in England for the number of suggestions made by the 
community. There were over 60 Expressions of Interest submitted to the 
Boston Town Deal Board for idea development and these were assessed 
against the criteria agreed by the Town Deal Board in February 2020. The 
Boston Town Deal Facebook group has been used as a platform to engage 
with the community and has seen significant engagement and the page has 
over 1,090 followers. The impact of interaction on social media has 
generated public interest, for example the video on the Mayflower Centre 
has been viewed over 98,000 times and generated 370 direct 
engagements. 

1.9. The Boston Town Deal Board has met 7 times. In addition, the Technical 
Sub-Group of the Board has met to examine the interventions in detail, to 
support the compilation of an evidence base, to agree the theory of change, 
vision and strategy for each town deal intervention. They have considered 
the long-term challenges and sustainability, alongside the need for recovery 
from Covid-19 and future resilience. 

1.10. Town Deal Boards are responsible for producing the Town Investment 
Plans, including putting forward suitable projects which align with the 
objectives of the Towns’ Fund. The project approval process has taken into 
account the level of alignment with the intervention framework set out in the 
Further Guidance from MHCLG. 

1.11. The draft Town Investment Plans were submitted for a Check and 
Challenge with MHCLG at the end of September. The feedback has shaped 

Page 31

http://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/


the refinement of the Town Investment Plan and proposals for up to £25 
million from the Towns Fund. 

1.12. The Town Investment Plan is in two sections; section 1 setting out the 
context, strategy and process planning; and section 2 setting out the details 
of project proposals. The project proposals have been agreed by the Town 
Deal Board. 

2.  The Town Investment Plan 
 
2.1  The draft Town Investment Plan (TIP) may be found at Appendix 1. All 

Members were sent the link to the Boston Town Deal Board meeting and 
the papers, which included the draft TIP, on Tuesday 13 October, at which 
time it was a word document.  

 
2.2  The draft TIP appended is presented in the format for submission - it is a 

document that highlights the strengths and opportunities that Boston has to 
offer, whilst evidencing the threats that Boston faces, together with the 
needs of the wider communities and businesses. 

 
2.3  The list of interventions are outlined in the TIP and support the Boston 

Town Deal Board’s vision. 
 

2.4  To date there is match funding of approximately £13m from partner 
organisations, meaning the total value that the Towns Fund is seeking to 
leverage into Boston is £38m. 
  

3.  The Town Deal Platform and Future of the Town Board 
 
3.1  The Boston Town Deal has created many opportunities to bring several 

strategic partners together that may not have had an opportunity to work 
collectively without this platform. A clear example of this may be found 
within the skills and education sector where we have seen Boston College 
and the University of Lincoln working in a collaborative relationship for the 
benefit of both learners and business. 

 
3.2  The guidance relating to the Towns Fund makes clear that Town Boards will 

be in existence for at least the lifetime of the current Parliament, with an 
expectation of longer. Officers are in discussions with the Greater 
Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP) on how the Town 
Boards in Lincolnshire may continue to develop a pipeline of projects to 
enable the GLLEP to be in a strong position to bid for future funding. 

 
3.3  The Boston Town Board will continue to work on the current interventions 

as set out within the TIP, as part of the 12 month business development 
period. The Board will also seek to develop new interventions through other 
funding streams and through continued partnership working and by 
attracting new investment into the Borough. 

 
 

Page 32



CONCLUSION 
 
The award of up to £25m from the Towns Fund creates a huge opportunity to help 
shape the future of both the Town and the Borough of Boston. Responding to the 
requirements of phase one of the prospectus will ensure that the Council is well 
placed to deliver phase two and continue to use the platform of the Town Deal to 
deliver additional investment in Boston by continuing to work with partners and 
business. 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Council is the accountable body and will ensure that any draw down of funds 
agreed as part of the budget envelope and subject to the Heads of Terms, which will 
be signed by the Chief Executive, s.151 Officer and the Chairman of the Boston 
Towns Deal Board, are in accordance with the conditions of the final award. 
 

 
 

LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Individual projects identified as interventions within the Investment Plan will be 
subject to individual legal advice and equality impact assessments where required 
under the legislative framework. 
 

 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
This is set out in within the TIP. 
 

APPENDICES 
 
(If none then insert the word ‘None’ and delete the below text/boxes). 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 Draft Boston Town Deal Investment Plan 

 
 
 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON TOWN 
INVESTMENT PLAN
B O S T O N  S T O R Y B O A R D
O C T O B E R  2 0 2 0

P
age 35



2 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

CONTENTS

1.   BOSTON  

2.  ANALYSIS  

3.  ENGAGEMENT

4. VISION
    
5.  STRATEGY
 
6.  PROJECTS
     
7.  DELIVERY     

4

7

10

14

17

29

46

P
age 36



3 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

“In such difficult and challenging times, the 
Town Deal provides a fantastic opportunity 
to attract significant government funding 

to make a real difference to the local 
economy in Boston. It  has provided the 

platform for some of the  key stakeholders 
from across all sectors to work together 
to formulate a plan to help deliver key 

projects to enable the town to kickstart 
economic growth and act as a catalyst 

for future investment  to realise the 
undeniable potential in the area. With a 
particular emphasis on the skills agenda 

and raising the aspirations of the people of 
Boston, the Town Deal aims to build on the 
unique and historic nature of the town to 

deliver a better future for everyone.”

Chair of the Boston Town Deal and
Land and Development Director of 

Chestnut Homes 

P
age 37



4 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

1 B O S T O N

P
age 38



T H E  P L A C E

Its adventurous citizens helped to lay the 
foundations of a new America and revolutionised 
farming to tame the local wetlands to provide 
plentiful food for the rest of the country. It 
dreams and strives for a future that can echo 
its successful past. It has the ‘will’, it needs 
a ‘way’. It is time to believe in Boston.

Situated on the coastal line connecting the Wash 
and the Humber, Boston is one of the three major 
centres including Lincoln and Grantham that provide 
for the administrative county of Lincolnshire. It has 
a thousand years of history as a Wash Port and 
served for centuries as a nucleus of international 
trade and commerce. The town provides a centre 
point and an anchor for South East Lincolnshire. 
Boston has a substantial freight and logistics 
sector and is significant as a food processing and 
wholesale hub. It is relatively well connected and has 
both a railway station and a port railhead. Boston’s 
little known but internationally notable cluster of 
heritage buildings should be the envy of many an 
English city, but the retiring town has yet to rekindle 
its former glow, encouraging new investment.  St 
Botolph’s Church, a magnificent landmark that 
soars above the Fens, is one of the largest parish 
churches in England. Its iconic Medieval tower, 
topped with a highly decorated lantern ringed with 
pinnacles, is affectionately known regionally as ‘The 
Stump’ and is one of the only surviving examples 
of its kind left in the country. The church’s scale 
and grandeur is testament to the town’s previous 
wealth and status.  Boston boasts a major hospital 
- the second largest acute facility in Lincolnshire. 

Boston schools are proud of their alumni and include 
England’s Deputy Chief Medical Advisor and a 
former Director General of the CBI. Its creative souls 
include composer John Taverner, poet Jean Ingelow, 
a Hollywood film producer and world-renowned 
music producer.  Its further and higher education 
college is ranked as one of the top 5 in the country 
with a national reputation for innovation and high-
quality learning. The town is not short of talent. 

The town knows the limitations on 
development posed by flood risk but 
continues to develop sensibly.

Boston is a town of diversity and home to a large 
cluster of migrant worker communities attracted 
principally to the food and land based economic 
sectors. However, 75% of those voting in the 2016 
referendum (the highest percentage in England) 
chose to leave the European Union and there is still 
work to be continued on community cohesion.

In addition to the statistics opposite:

• The town is struggling with its health 
outcomes and is in the lowest third of 
all areas in England for this indicator 
(English Indices of Deprivation 2019). 

• The area has low levels of crime ranking 
237 out of 317 local authority areas in the 
English Indices of Deprivation 2019. 

• The economic outlook for its young people is 
in jeopardy. Before Coronavirus, the number 
of benefits claimants as a proportion of its 
16-24 population was very high (over 7% 
compared to a national figure of less than 2%). 

• Although pay is low, Boston is nonetheless a 
very hard-working town with levels of economic 
inactivity at 15%, 6% lower than the national 
average at 21% (Nomis, March 2020). 

Boston has borne the effects of Coronavirus 
slightly more effectively to date than surrounding 
settlements and the national average in terms 
of furlough rates standing at 23%, compared 
to 35% for East Lindsey (its adjoining coastal 
authority) and 28% for England (ONS). 

Notwithstanding this, 7200 workers were on 
furlough in July 2020 (ONS). Boston’s greatest 
challenge, however, is low skills. It ranks worst 
of all local authorities in England in terms of the 

Boston – a town rich in heritage, unpretentious yet 
packed with potential , its people independent and 
self-sufficient, humble and with a heart of gold.

CO2
emissions per 

head

Low levels of

10%
Lowest

in terms of
skills ranking 
across towns 

in England

£130
less than 

national average

Average salary is

 per week

21%
compared to 

national average 
(18%)

Ageing 
population is

PUBLIC
TRANSPORT

High usage of

30%
Boston in 

lowest

of
neighbourhoods  

in England in 
enployment

6.4
housing cost 
to salary ratio 

vs national 
average of 8

WORLD
CLASS 

heritage assets

YEARS

AVERAGE 
READING AGE

7

5 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 39



“The Town Deal has been 
quite simply an extraordinary 
opportunity to bring together 

strategic partners across 
private, public and third 

sectors to create an ambitious 
vision that levels up Boston, 
generating interest, passion, 

excitement and enthusiasm for 
all of us in our Borough. We 
have taken this platform and 

used it at every opportunity to 
generate interest beyond our 

boundaries, beyond our County 
and indeed beyond the UK.”

skills domain within the 2019 English Indices of 
Deprivation. The number of people qualified to 
NVQ3 and above in Boston is over 20% points lower 
than the national average. This tracks through into 
wages with the area having wage levels that are £130 
a week lower than the England average (ASHE).

However, in recent years there has been 
significant investment in Boston College 
through the GLLEP and the college is now 
ranked in the top 5 in the country.

The spark of enterprise in Boston has yet to be 
ignited. The town has a very low level of business 
births just over 20 per 10,000 population – a third of 
the England average and has a very ‘static’ economy 
with a level of business ‘churn’ 50% less than the 
England average (ONS). Boston is 18% points behind 
the national average when it comes to workers 
involved in Knowledge Intensive Businesses (KIBS).

Using a town-based version of the Centre for 
Cities benchmarking approach and looking at 
9 comparator towns based on its audit family 
group, we were able to benchmark Boston. 
These towns were: Carlisle, Corby, Dover, Great 
Yarmouth, Kings Lynn, Mansfield, Redditch, 
South Hams and Wellingborough. Boston had 
the smallest stock of jobs within this group, the 
lowest level of Knowledge Intensive Businesses 
and the lowest wages. It did, however, have a 
relatively good level of GVA per worker 4th out 
of 10 and came 5th in ranking in relation to the 
number of home workers and CO2 emissions.  

Based on these comparisons, it is evident 
that the town is currently underperforming 
economically in relation to its ‘peer’ settlements. 

Despite these extensive challenges, Boston has 
great social capital. It has a proud and distinguished 
history and a considerable international diaspora 
commencing as a major player in the Hanseatic 
League and culminating most significantly in its 
role as a departure point for the Pilgrim Fathers 
400 years ago this very year. Its maritime 
tradition was instrumental in unlocking large 
swathes of the New World through individuals 
such as Matthew Flinders, the first person to 
circumnavigate Australia. It is a place that has 
spirit and determination to exceed expectations.

Working against the grain of these challenges and 
determined to realise the full potential of Boston, 
the Towns Fund Board has extensively consulted 
and engaged with business and the community 
to determine a vision for the town. From the rich 
seed bed of its constituency, the Board gathered 
a of project ideas through the MyTown portal and 
a dialogue with local people and organisations. 
Supported by on-going communications including 
public access to its meetings, the Board has 
refined a long list of project ideas to develop a 
final portfolio of projects that underpin the plan 
and seek to transform this vision into a reality.

T H E  P L AC E  CO N T I N U E D
Miche l l e  Sacks

Boston Borough Council

Boston ONS 2018 
census population

69,366

East Lindsey
(adjoining coastal 

authority)
ONS 2018 census 

population

140,741

6 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 40



7 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

2 A N A LY S I S

P
age 41



O P P O R T U N I T Y 
&  N E E D
Skills and Aspirations 
A key part of our levelling up focus will 
concentrate on people who are economically 
inactive. The most recent Greater Lincolnshire 
Covid-19 economic recovery plan highlights 
that minority, low skill and older workers are 
most impacted by the economic fall out of 
the pandemic and we will recognise this in 
the way we target Towns Fund resources to 
address the challenges these groups face. 

We intend to place emphasis on maximising 
the opportunities for people over the age of 
65 in Boston. The population constituted by 
those in this age category, is 21% compared 
to the national average of 18% and the 
challenges of an increasing number of older 
people will be thoughtfully addressed. We 
plan to find new and innovative ways to 
harness the ageing population as a strength 
rather than a ‘weakness’ in the town in 
terms of their contribution of experience 
and knowledge to their communities. 

Boston is also home to a significant population 
of migrant workers who have a major positive 
impact on the economic dynamism of the 
town and we will continue to engage with 
and channel their contribution to the town, 
actively creating opportunities to enhance 
their integration and economic potential. 

 

Sustainable 
Economic Growth 
We plan to increase the number of people 
working in Knowledge Intensive Businesses 
and maximise the range and quality of jobs in 
the High Street and Heritage sectors and the 
number of digital and learning sector jobs. This 
will help to begin to future proof the High Street 
and retail core of the town against the ongoing 
impacts of the Coronavirus pandemic alongside 
the decline of the traditional street-based 
offer. Boston also has a strongly distinctive 
feature in terms of its port and associated 
food and logistics sector. We intend to build 
on this aspect of its economic potential.  In 
terms of investment, Boston is still perceived 
to be an attractive local option for bigger 
scale ventures. It operates in an environment 
dominated by High Street lenders and 
accesses a relatively limited range of financial 
instruments/products to drive its growth. 
Boston has a mixed performance in terms of 
the environment and sustainable behaviours. 

Boston has a relatively low level of CO2 
emissions per head compared to similar 
towns and performs moderately well in 
terms of % of the population using public 
transport. We plan to consolidate the town’s 
relative environmental strengths, delivering 
significant environmental improvements 
enabled, in part, through the growth of walking 
and cycling options in the town and the 
enhancement of its railway station. We plan 
to make Boston a more attractive location 
for speculators through stimulating a more 
diversified pattern of economic development 
arising from the proposed investment in its 
workforce skills and physical infrastructure.

The agrifood sector underpins the economy of 
the town, with 29% of local jobs in the sector 
compared to 4% nationally.  The Town has also 
seen significant investments in this sector, with 
more planned and a business led consortium 
is leading plans to develop the Port of Boston 
as a specialist food port to support the food 
chain in South Lincolnshire and wider Fens 
region, with over 70,000 jobs in this sector 
across South Lincolnshire and the Fens.

S T R E N G T H S

Port of Boston

Food Sector & 
supply chain

Heritage Cluster

Social Capital

Levels of economic 
participation

Excellent FE/HE

O P P O R T U N I T I E S

Resilience of Food Sector

New National Policy 
Focus on Skills

Strategic alliance with 
ELDC creating new coast 

themed joint working 

UK Food Valley and HPO

Port of Boston

Brexit

W E A K N E S S E S

Low Skills

Low Levels of Enterprise

Skewed Demography

Low Wages

Health Inequalities

National perception of 
Boston as a place

T H R E AT S

Flood Risk

Changes to Immigration 
Rules Impacting on 
Labour Availability

Longer Term Impact of 
Covid on the Economy

Cost of new Infrastructure

Low levels of aspiration

We have developed the following SWOT in the light 
of our analysis, which underpins the facilitation and 

selection of the following projects for the town.

S W O T  A N A LY S I S

8 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 42



Pride in Place
The Port of Boston is an important and distinctive feature of the local economy, 
which along with its rail links can be economically exploited to enhance growth 
potential. Our programme will help to manage the ongoing relative affordability of 
local housing in Boston by sustainably working on economic outcomes with those 
in the community who have the greatest challenges in terms of their housing status. 
Boston is an estuarine town and water is a key part of its context. This means it is 
challenged in relation to the cost of its infrastructure and flood risk, yet its river 
and coastal credentials are a real asset from a perspective of leisure and logistics. 
The evolution of Boston ’s infrastructure offers good opportunity in terms of 
economic development but is likely to be challenging based on current town-based 
development trajectories in terms of both housing and employment land. There 
is anecdotal evidence to suggest that the supply of utilities is a strain on growth 
opportunities.  Our plan to maximise the sustainable growth and development of 
the town through effective investment in its infrastructure, linked to these assets.

O P P O R T U N I T Y  & 
N E E D  C O N T I N U E D

9 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 43



1 0 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

3   E N G A G E M E N T

P
age 44



Town Deal posts between

This was when we were actively promoting 
the #MyTown links

P U B L I C 
C O N S U LTAT I O N S

3 days at Guildhall, 
Oldrids, Parish Council, 
Haven High School 
and Boston College.

T O W N S  F U N D 
P R O S P E C T U S
Towns Fund Prospectus 
released by UK Government

S TA R T

S O C I A L  M E D I A

Public input through 
Facebook and blog

M Y T O W N 
P O R TA L

1st highest MyTown  
digital suggestion 
board for ideas.

T E A M 
L I N C O L N S H I R E 
E V E N T

Local consultation 
event. September 
17th.

B O S T O N 
T O W N  F U N D 
B O A R D 
W E B S I T E

Sharing plans, blog 
insights and news

T O W N 
I N V E S T M E N T 
P L A N
Develop the Town 
Investment Plan

D E TA I L E D 
P R O J E C T S
Develop the Town 
Investment Plan projects 
and business cases

W E 
A R E 

H E R E
SUBMIT

FUNDING

ACTION

B O A R D  M E E T

Boston Town Fund 
Board February 
Board Meeting

S TA K E H O L D E R 
E N G A G E M E N T

Ongoing local engagement 
events and channels

B O S T O N  T O W N 
F U N D  B O A R D
Creation of the board 
and inaugural Board 
Meeting, January 2020.

P R E S S 
L A U N C H

Spreading the 
word via various 
media channels

  November 2019

  October 2021
  (Pending approval)

  October 2020
  (Pending approval)

T H E  P R O C E S S

App
roval

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

O
n

g
o

in
g

O
n

g
o

in
g

B O A R D  M E E T

Boston Town 
Fund Board July 
Board Meeting

B O A R D  M E E T

Boston Town 
Fund Board June 
Board Meeting

B O A R D  M E E T

Boston Town Fund 
Board September 
Board Meeting

B O A R D  M E E T

Boston Town Fund 
Board October 
Board Meeting

B U S I N E S S 
E V E N T S

Conversations 
with local 
businesses.

S TA K E H O L D E R 
E V E N T

November meeting 
to develop board 
membership.

S TA K E H O L D E R 
E V E N T

December meeting 
to develop board 
membership.

B O A R D  M E E T

October meeting 
to discuss draft 
corporate strategy.

T E A M  L I N C S 
E V E N T

October meeting 
to discuss 
Mayflower Centre

T H E  E N G A G E M E N T 
P R O C E S S

1,088
Facebook

followers &

2,997
PE21 Regeneration

reach

2,068
reached

Digital Radio
article

VIDEO POST
Heritage

FRESH 
PRODUCE & 
LOGISTICS 

VIDEO

16th Feb & 29th Mar

YOUTH
Ambassadors

VIDEO POST

VIEWS

MAYFLOWER
CENTRE VIDEO

80,700
1,007

likes

8,900
views

VIEWS
8,800

VIEWS
22,400 94,281

reach

1 1 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 45



S TA K E H O L D E R S

YOUTH
“Our ambition for the Youth Ambassadors project 
is to see a youth hub for the town of Boston. It 
could be a central location for young people to 
relax, have fun, learn and make progress. It could 
also act as a place to socialise because I truly 
believe that the future belongs to young people 
and they need a space to collaborate to create a 
bright future for this town.”

Aureja Sarkauskaite, Voluntary Services

TRAIN STATION
“The station improvements that we are hoping 
to make at Boston train station mean that we are 
looking to provide a gateway to Boston along 
with the PE21 project, ensuring we have the 
right walkways, cycle access and delivering that 
entrance that Boston really needs.”

Kirsty Green, East Midlands Railways

WELLBEING

“Integrating health and other activities is a 
real driver for us and the opportunity to be in a 
collaborative space where we can show people 
what they might be able to achieve is fantastic 
[...] How we can work together to support the 
people of Boston is a really exciting opportunity.”

Jacqui Bunce, Partnerships and Planning at 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG

HERITAGE
So we’re excited to have a number of projects all 
working together to try and make the most of 
Boston’s incredible heritage and bring the town 
centre back to its former glory, repairing historic 
buildings in the town centre. This will hopefully 
create growth and jobs and will really benefit the 
town, all through the Towns Deal funding.

Greg Pickup - Heritage Lincolnshire

FOOD
“The ambition is that Boston becomes a global 
centre for food logistics. We’re already in the 
right place, as Lincolnshire is at the heart of 
the food industry and for fresh produce in 
particular. We also have major food manufacturing 
businesses here too, what’s important is that we 
give them access to the best in technology.”

Prof Val Baybrooks MBE, University of Lincoln

EDUCATION
“The building we are standing in is the 
Engineering, Manufacturing and Technology 
Building, which is ready to ensure that businesses 
get exactly what they need in terms of skills. 
We’ve also got a transport and logistics academy 
that’s going to be ready by Christmas 2020, 
which will focus on the Port of Boston as well as 
the digital parts of the industry.”

Claire Foster, Boston College

The vision and implementation strategy 
and projects are the product of extensive 
consultation and engagement with key cross-
sector stakeholders throughout Boston. 

This has included networking across the town through the 
constituencies which underpin the membership of the Town 
Board.

See full interviews by clicking on the Stakeholders images 
or by visiting our Facebook page 
www.facebook.com/BostonTownDeal/

1 2 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 46

https://youtu.be/CIvGtzZTmwc
https://youtu.be/_9dofOxMSjM
https://youtu.be/HKofBhbWCaA
https://youtu.be/tKD2DmL-rxQ
https://youtu.be/gzbPvyzlsX0
https://youtu.be/0dTRnIZqAkM


L O C A L  I N P U T MAYFLOWER

“We need more focus on the 
business we have in Boston 
building better connections 

with schools and our college so 
our young people can see the 

jobs they can aspire to.”

PE21

“Having multi use areas/
buildings in the town centre 

that incorporate offices, 
culture, restaurants, leisure, 
learning hubs, residential 

units, open spaces and health 
facilities will attract people 
in and they will then use the 

shops more.”

3G PITCH

“I would like to see investment 
within the town centre for 

facilities that can be utilised by 
and for young people to use.”

HERITAGE

“I would like the town deal to 
investigate how to connect 

heritage to all communities and 
businesses, bringing people 
together, increasing access, 

strengthening relationships and 
investing in the towns tourism 

offer.”

BOSTON RAILWAY

“Creating a sense of arrival 
with attractive (and well 
maintained) tree planting 
alongside main routes into 

town is a cost effective way to 
say this is a pleasant place to 

visit and live in.”

Key Themes
Our work to engage with public views, 
through the MyTown website analysis, the 
Towns Fund Board and its wider connections 
has enabled us to identify the five key 
priorities for the town which form the core 
of our strategy. It is ‘mission-critical’ that 
to satisfy both the policy frameworks and 
public aspirations for Boston we need to:

• Build its aspirations and skills base 
– this is the central rationale for the 
Mayflower scheme as our flagship 
project – diversifying the capability 
of the workforce to be more agile and 
participative in the face of the employment 
challenges arising from the Coronavirus

• Drive its sustainable urban growth – this 
is the core purpose of our major ports 
and logistics focus, our smarter housing 
initiative and the redevelopment of its railway 
station – building its sectoral strengths in 
areas which are resilient (particularly in 
terms of the food sector) to reduce the 
impact of the Coronavirus pandemic

• Enhance its Pride of Place – this is the driver 
for our heritage-led High Street regeneration 
proposals and our cycling and walking 
alignment  – repurposing the town’s centre 
offer and harnessing the wider natural 
environmental hinterland of the town in a way 
which is a positive antidote to the impact of 
the coronavirus on retail and tourism assets.

• Good connectivity is core to a future-proofed 
offer and our approach will address this 
through - investment in a new transport 
hub encompassing innovative approaches 
using electrical and autonomous vehicles. 
We will also promote enhanced digital 
capacity in the town as a core component 
of the Centre for Future Living, Leisure and 
Learning Centre, accessibility for business 
and enterprise and through our programme 
of capital investments in the repurposing 
of the High Street and the development of 

an enhanced natural coast visitor offer.

See more responses at: mytown.communities.gov.uk/town/Boston/

SHODFRIARS

“Blackfriars, Sam Newson, 
the Guildhall and the 

redevelopment of Shodfriars 
should be fully supported”

1 3 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 47



1 4 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

4   V I S I O N

1 4 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 48



O U R  V I S I O N

A N  I N C L U S I V E  C O M M U N I T Y

Enabling the widest range of people and business 
to contribute to and benefit from economic 
success. Drive physical and social infrastructure 
that achieves more prosperity alongside greater 
equity in opportunities and outcomes.

Boston Towns Fund Vision:

“To define and deliver the 
investment in professional and 

technological support needed for 
strategic interventions that will 
shape the development of an 

aspirational, skilled and healthy 
population. To achieve sustainable 

economic growth and pride of 
place through bold urban design, 
digital solutions and connected 

communities. This will launch Boston 
into the future, build on its unique 

heritage and make our town an 
exciting place to live, work, invest 
and visit for generations to come.”

A N  E N T R E P R E N E U R I A L 
C O M M U N I T Y

An entrepreneurial community which nurtures 
existing opportunities around agri-food 
automation, logistics, transport and engineering. 
Providing an environment for ambitious inward 
investment and promoting the visitor economy.

A  C O N N E C T E D  C O M M U N I T Y

Creating a sustainable connected community through 
smart home technology, additional cycle ways and 
improved public transport links by road and rail.

A  H E A LT H Y  C O M M U N I T Y

Nationally recognised as a centre of innovation 
around health and care, with less than 20% of the 
workforce affected by long term health conditions.

A N  A S P I R AT I O N A L  C O M M U N I T Y

Creating a golden thread of learning between the 
schools, college and university to offer greater learning 
opportunities, increased earning potential and creating 
a supportive environment for businesses to flourish.

1 5 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 49



O U R  V I S I O N

Our plan for delivering 
this vision is built on 
three pillars: Skills and 
Aspirations, Sustainable 
Economic Growth and 
Pride in Place.
The interplay of learning, heritage and our 
port come together in the TIP, interlacing to 
provide a golden web, sustaining our leveling 
up agenda. We have set these strands out 
below in our Towns Plan Strategy Visual.

Covid
Covid impact assessments have identified immense 
and very real challenges for our area. We know 
from economic analysis that 20% of all workers 
in Boston are furloughed. Across the whole of 
Boston Borough, furlough rates are still increasing 
and in July stood at over 7,200 workers - a rise 
of 800 during the month of June alone. Whilst 
this is lower than national or county norms, it still 
represents a prodigious impact on our relatively 
small population and economic base. Covid has 
impacted on our retail offer - starkly highlighted 
by the closure of the historic department store, 
Oldrids - and on reduced footfall and increased 
vacancy rates in our town centre. Emerging evidence 
from the Greater Lincolnshire LEP suggests that 
many of the individuals who have been most 
adversely affected are the most vulnerable and low 
paid members of the community. Those already 
‘vulnerable’, now at ‘most risk’. Certainly, from our 
evidence base for ‘skills and aspiration’ planning, 
it is clear that Boston is susceptible to the dangers 
that will ensue. Our approach to tackling this as 
our core challenge, is built on the following pillars:

S K I L L S  A N D 
A S P I R AT I O N S

Boston Mayflower Building
Holy Trinity Initiative
Youth Ambassadors

The Sanctuary Project

P R I D E 
I N  P L A C E

Streetscape grants
Shodfriars restoration

St Botolphs lighting and 
medieval library projects

Blenkin Memorial Hall 
Refurbishment

S U S TA I N A B L E 
E C O N O M I C 

G R O W T H

Port and logistics
Railway station

Endeavour FM 
Digital Project

Cycling and Walking Plan
PE21 Health Hub
Smarter Homes

1 6 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 50



1 7 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

5 S T R AT E G Y

P
age 51



O P P O R T U N I T Y

Skills and Aspirations 
Our signature skills and aspirations driver will 
be the creation of a new learning environment 
at the heart of the town themed around 
its heritage. Led by Boston College, the 
‘Mayflower Building’ will incorporate: 

• Areas for employers, businesses and the 
voluntary sectors including new start-
ups, conference and meeting space with 
superfast broadband/Wi-Fi connectivity.

• Learning pods designed for adult 
learning access for digital upskilling 
and career-skills development.

• Student-supported small retail outlets including 
coffee shops, bakery, health foods, crafts etc.

• On-hand support and tuition provided in a 
low key, calm and spacious environment.

• Health and well-being pods/outlets - with 
support to talk about mental health, 
nutrition and exercise advice, etc.

• Health facilities and a leisure offer.

This initiative will form an exciting new anchor 
development which will adapt to the Covid-19 
learning and enterprise environment.

Alongside the Mayflower, the Inclusive Growth 
Package which features outreach and learning 
activities linking projects proposed by the Holy 
Trinity Initiative, Sanctuary and Centenary Church 
will enable a blended offer of economic and 
community activity in collaboration with Boston 
Youth Ambassadors and the iconic Boston College 
Mayflower proposal.  Remodelling and refurbishing 
the building’s infrastructure and sports hall will 
create an attractive, flexible space and increase 
use by church and community groups.  It will 
enable ongoing input into children, young people 
and families to thrive, whilst providing a facility 
for activity, training and skills-based learning for 
all, encouraging connectivity across a network 
of community assets and facilities across Boston 
and supporting mental health and economic 
wellbeing in the community. This initiative is part 
of a cross cutting, inclusive growth offer which 
will provide economic and outreach learning and 
employment opportunities connected with the work 
of Centenary Church and the Sanctuary projects.

We have generated an interconnected range of 
projects, which align with the key pillars in the Towns 
Fund Intervention Framework. Responding to our 
analysis of need, they will deliver a leveling up of 
the town based on the themes within the vision:

“The Department of International 
Trade’s network in 177 cities 

around the world, will be 
supporting our agri-food 

automation and robotics industry 
– showcasing and promoting 

opportunities to investors and 
creating highly skilled jobs.

Our food and food processing 
sector in Greater Lincolnshire is 
something to shout about and 
deserves to be profiled on this 

international stage.
We need investors to know that 

being based here opens up a 
wealth of opportunities for their 

business.”

Executive councillor for economy 
and place at the county council

1 8 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 52



O P P O R T U N I T Y 
C O N T I N U E D
Sustainable Economic Growth
At the heart of this aspect of the plan is the proposal 
to deliver a major ports and logistics investment 
proposal, bringing together: the Port, University of 
Lincoln and Boston College around a consolidated 
training and business development programme. 
The Centre for Food and Fresh Produce Logistics, a 
partnership between Boston College, the National 
Centre for Food Manufacturing (NCFM) at the 
University of Lincoln and the food industry, will 
spearhead the development of new skills and 
innovation in food chain logistics directly supporting 
the 29% of jobs in this sector in the district.

The Port is a defining feature of the town and 
this investment will help cement its credentials as 
the key piece of infrastructure sustaining major 
elements of the food supply chain across south 
Lincolnshire and beyond.  The Centre for Food and 
Fresh Produce Logistics will focus on digitalisation 
and the way in which new technology, such as 5G, 
can be used to create complete traceability in the 
international food chain and trade.  Local food 
chain businesses are working with the University of 
Lincoln to develop projects, supported by national 
innovation funding, to address these challenges.

Important associated projects linked to different 
aspects of connectivity in Boston involve the creation 
of a new digital component to the operation of 
the local radio station Endeavour FM and a major 
programme of investment in Boston Railway 
Station. We also plan to align our Towns Fund 
investments with the Cycling and Walking aspects 
of the implementation of the Local Transport Plan. 
We also have two major developments linked to 
the PE21 cluster of assets at the heart of Boston 
which will expand its retail core. Our food sector and 
built environment work will provide an approach 
which strengthens the post Covid-19 repurposing 
of the High Street and the consolidation of a 
sectoral strength which is resilient in the face of 
the economic impacts of the pandemic. Finally our 
Smarter Homes initiative will build the resilience 
of people living in their own homes for longer 
and open up a new economic sector in Boston.

Pride in Place
Pride in Place – We have a compelling economic 
heritage offer which involves an integrated 
package of investments based on:

• St Botolph’s Church Lighting Scheme 

• St Botolph’s Medieval Library – develop, conserve 
and interpret artefacts along with training outputs

• Blenkin Memorial Hall – refurbish 
and re-focus some activity

• Healing the High Street – Townscape 
Heritage Proposal (Heritage Lincolnshire)

• Townscape Heritage Project – engaging people 
and up-skilling them –- Heritage Lincolnshire

• Wide Bargate shop front scheme 
– Heritage Lincolnshire

• Shodfriar’s Hall – Bring Shodfriar’s 
Hall back into use as a culture centre 
adjacent to Blackfriars Arts Centre

This cluster of activities will be programme 
managed and coordinated to maximum 
combined impact by Heritage Lincolnshire.

1 9 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 53



W I D E R  I N V E S T M E N T 
A N D  I N T E R V E N T I O N S
Our proposals will align 
with a portfolio of wider 
activities, which are currently 
in train in Boston. Highlights 
are set out below: 

Boston Transport Plan
This initiative, led as a formal part of its statutory 
responsibilities provides an opportunity to 
position the railway station, our aspirations 
around cycling and walking and wider 
connectivities into a statutory framework.

Flood Risk
Our approach to flood risk is informed by the key 
components within the South East Lincolnshire Joint 
Planning Unit Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2017, 
which identifies that almost the whole of the Borough 
of Boston and a large part of the South Holland 
District are at a high probability of flooding. Approx 
85% of Boston lies within the floodplain (84% in Flood 
Zone 3 ‘high probability’, 1% in Flood Zone 2 ‘ medium 
probability’) resulting in 26,503 residential and 1,212 
commercial properties being at risk. Approximately 
74% of South Holland lies within the floodplain (68% 
in Flood Zone 3, 6% in Flood Zone 2) resulting in 
29,922 residential and 1,296 commercial properties 
being at risk. Costs within the plan take account of 
the additional development premiums driven by 
flood risk amelioration requirements in Boston.

Lincolnshire Institute 
of Technology
The roll out of a £16 million investment across 
Lincolnshire focused on higher level technical 
skills with a key footprint in Boston via the College 
provides a fabulous opportunity to enhance the 
skills agenda in Boston responding to the main 
issue at the heart of the challenges we face.  The 
National Centre for Food Manufacturing NCFM 
is the lead partner in the Lincolnshire Institute of 
Technology (IoT) which creates a direct link to the 
Boston Port development and the food chain.

Food Enterprise Zones 
The evolution of the South Lincolnshire Food 
Enterprise Zone (FEZ) at Holbeach, which 
is also the base of the University of Lincoln, 
NCFM, provides a real opportunity to better 
link our logistics assets to the food sector.

UK Food Valley
The Greater Lincolnshire LEP, in partnership with the 
industry and South FEZ is leading work to position 
the region’s food sector as an internationally leading 
cluster.  In 2020’-21 this is being supported by the 
creation of a High Potential Opportunity (HPO) with 
DIT to promote the LEP’s world class food processing 
and technology cluster internationally. This is the 
key theme within our Port and Logistics project.

Boston Hospital Upgrade
The NHS in Lincolnshire, Boston Borough Council 
and other partners are working together to 
improve the health outcomes for the people of 
Boston and to attract investment into the area. 
Strategic planning and partnerships have been 
strengthened over the past few years.  The 
Pilgrim Hospital is a major employer within the 
Borough and has received a package of capital 
investment to improve its urgent and emergency 
care facilities. The recruitment and retention of 
health and care staff and the NHS People plan are 
being linked in conversations with Boston College 
regarding skills training and values development.

Local NHS has been working with Boston Borough 
Council regarding the concept to regenerate the West 
Street/ PE21 area of the Boston Town Centre and their 
aspiration to develop the area into a new welcoming 
and inviting gateway to the town. The proposal is a 
health/wellbeing centre linked to new leisure facilities. 
We are looking at this as potential opportunity 
to integrate services and facilities/amenities with 
the NHS, Council and voluntary sector in order to 
improve the health and wellbeing of local people.

2 0 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 54



W I D E R  I N T E R V E N T I O N S
A N D  I N V E S T M E N T 
C O N T I N U E D
Building on and refreshing 
a climate for investment
We have assessed the economic impact of each 
project proposal and more details are provided 
along with the levels of private sector investment 
generated in the individual project descriptions 
further on in this Town Investment Plan. Differential 
impacts of the projects have been assessed through 
a development dialogue with each project sponsor 
and the final list of projects has been derived from 
active engagement by the Towns Fund Board and 
through detailed consideration by a Technical 
Sub-Group of the Board BUILDING ON AND 
which has assessed which projects to include in 
the Town Investment Plan. All projects have been 
prioritized using the Towns Hub prioritization tool.

Strategy
Since the drafting and publication of these 
strategies which set the long term framework 
for the economic development of Boston local 
organisations have been working together, through 
the coordination of the Greater Lincolnshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to develop a response 
to the Covid pandemic. The medium term plan is 
in development but the immediate response has 
been based on the following immediate actions:

• Business Support: To repurpose existing 
business support schemes, and design 
new business support schemes, that 
meet the challenges of Covid-19

• Workforce: To take measures to meet the changing 
employment and training needs of the greater 
Lincolnshire workforce in the context of Covid-19

• Sectors: To provide tailored support to greater 
Lincolnshire’s most important economic 
sectors so that they can respond to Covid-19.

Focus
The projects, which we have facilitated not 
only deliver against this agenda of post 
coronavirus growth they have been carefully 
chosen to respond to the clean growth agenda. 
In choosing them we have had regard to:

promoting better design and sustainable construction 
approaches, increasing energy efficiency 
(particularly in terms of housing), promoting low 
carbon transport and enhance the effective use 
of natural resources. The grid below shows how 
our projects align in terms of these principles:

2 1 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 55



2 2 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

W I D E R  I N V E S T M E N T 
A N D  I N T E R V E N T I O N S

National Themes Regional Themes Local Themes

(Industrial Strategy, Tourism Sector Deal 
Concept, DCMS Digital Connectivity Portal 
and Inclusive Economy Partnership):

• Levelling up all regions - by enabling 
places to develop ambitious plans 
to drive economic growth.  

• Liveable places - providing crucial infrastructure 
to help individuals flourish and creating shared 
spaces that bring communities together. 

• Connected growth – digital, social and cultural 
connectivity to ensure the economy grows in a 
way that is strong and sustainable and makes all 
places viable for work in the global economy. 

• Enhancing the business environment – at 
national and local levels (e.g. technical 
education and training, Tourism Zones). 

• Flexibility – from the national level through 
to regional / LEP level to support innovation 
and ensure small towns and their rural 
hinterlands are able to contribute to, and 
benefit from, wider economic growth. 

(Midlands Engine):

• Government strategy for the Midlands is focused 
on growth, connectivity, skills, enterprise and 
innovation, trade and quality of life.  The Midlands 
Engine’s innovation strategy and SIA both 
included Future Food Processing as themes, 
given how important this sector is the region 
and the need for innovation and skills to drive 
sector growth, with these themes being led by 
Greater Lincolnshire LEP and the University 
of Lincoln on behalf of Midlands Engine.

• Regional bodies including the GLLEP are focused on 
supporting Government to deliver Inclusive growth 
– ensuring people everywhere can both contribute 
to, and benefit from, economic growth through 
supporting concrete actions that will create more 
jobs, export more goods and grow productivity. 

• Improving connections between towns and cities 
in the Midlands to support clusters to grow. 

• The coast as an economic engine that could 
support thriving businesses and communities. 

(Boston Borough Council, Lincolnshire County Council, Greater Lincolnshire LEP):

• Local Plan Priorities - Boston sits within the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan, within which local growth priorities are outlined as follows:

• Sustainable development - with particular emphasis on balancing greenspace, flood-risk and social needs, 

• Economy - diversifying and strengthening the economic base, vibrant 
historic town centres, supporting employment and business.

• Housing – providing sufficient housing land and ensuring supply meets the need 
of older people, first-time buyers and affordable/starter housing

• Environment – promoting understanding of the natural and historic environment, 
minimising climate change impacts, prioritising re-use of previously developed land and 
providing for equal opportunities and shared benefits from economic development.

• Transport – improving accessible, sustainable and affordable transport 
for all and to enhance efficiencies for business.

• Local Plan: Spatial Strategy  – this clearly articulates the vision that Boston is the key sub-regional centre 
and economic driver for the area. The plan foresees development and investment in the area focusing on 
Boston as this foci. Due to the level of services and economic opportunities, Boston is identified as an area 
with significant infrastructure needs which need to be satiated if it is to take advantage of prospective 
growth. The vibrancy of its historic core, street pattern and town-centre is considered a highly valuable 
asset, as are its further education provision at Boston College and health provision at Pilgrim hospital. Boston 
also offers the vast majority and wide variety of housing stock and housing growth potential in the area.

• The Greater Lincolnshire Destination Management Plan identifies the potential for Boston to exploit its 
individuality to  improve its visitor offer and act as a key driver for expanding the visitor economy locally 
and for the county as a whole. It has yet to release the unique and untapped promise as a destination town.

• The Greater Lincolnshire LEP Local industrial Industrial strategyStrategy and Covid Recoevery 
Plan, for Boston acknowledges the importance of the food sector, the college and port, 
and the challenges of deprivation, health care, 4G coverage and broadband speed. 

• Boston is within Natural England’s National character area profile: 46. The Fens. This stresses the 
importance of local heritage assets like the Boston Stump, classified as an iconic local building, acting as 
strong marker of place and icon  in the landscape. It also supports the long-term aspirations to open up 
fen waterways links opening up the fens for boating, recreation and tourism. The importance of Boston’s 
port is also key to the settlement pattern and history of the area, as is the historic settlement itself. 

• Boston is a key part of Lincolnshire’s aspirational tourism sector deal – improving visitor infrastructure to 
allow Boston to better “punch its weight” in tourism terms is a key part of this countywide strategy. Its 
current hospitality offer is emerging despite the pandemic with new investments in both high quality town 
centre stays and periphery offers, attracting visitors to stay and spend for both leisure and business purposes. 

S T R AT E G Y  —  Addressing need and opportunity and seeking to align 
with the core framework of Towns Fund, our strategy picks out five key 
interconnected themes: a balanced community, enterprise, health, resilience 
and connectivity.  It builds on a comprehensive overview of established 
strategies and documents and is nested within a wider strategic and spatial 
plan for Boston (our strategy review is at Appendix…). Our overview of the 
focus of the most pertinent strategic documents is set out below:

P
age 56



2 3 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

B
o

st
o

n 
M

ay
fl

o
w

er
 

C
en

tr
e

H
er

it
ag

e 
C

lu
st

er

P
E

21

S
m

ar
te

r
H

o
m

es

H
o

ly
 T

ri
ni

ty
 

In
it

ia
ti

ve

P
o

rt

E
nd

ea
vo

ur
F

M

R
ai

lw
ay

Sustainable construction

Energy Efficiency

Low Carbon Transport

Enhanced Use of Natural Resources

We have set out in the 
coherence section of this 
plan, how we used the 
broader strategic frameworks 
relevant to Boston, Covid 
recovery opportunities and 
clean growth priorities as key 
elements within our project 
prioritisation process to 
determine our ultimate list of 
projects within the structure 
of our investment plan.

I N T E R V E N T I O N  F R A M E W O R K

Build approach

Enhanced digital capacity Refurbishment approach

Provision of new options for local travel

Enhance port and rail

Maximising sea transport

Stimulation of modern high 
standard investment in key aspects 
of the tourism offer linked to 
the coast as a natural asset

P
age 57



O U T C O M E S  A N D  TA R G E T S :
S K I L L S  A N D  A S P I R AT I O N S

Our short, medium and longer 
term targets for each of the 

three pillars are set out below:

WAGES ENTERPRISE JOBS EMPLOYMENT

5 
YE

A
RS

10
-1

5 
YE

A
RS

30
 Y

EA
RS

SKILLS

Effective interventions close the 
NVQ 3 gap between and the 
national average bringing the 

difference to no more than 10%.

An increase in the skills base 
and range of job opportunities 

enables Boston to approach 
parity with the average 
wage at a national level.

The development of an enterprise 
culture, targeted at post-16 learners 

and older people in the labour 
force for whom self employment 
is appropriate. This is led by the 

growth and consolidation of 
the town’s key value adding 

sectors and particularly through 
its logistics and agri-food 

connections and the growth of its 
heritage and learning sectors.

Through an increase in the 
range and quality of jobs in ’s 
strategic sectors, particularly 

digital, manufacturing, learning 
and heritage Boston achieves 

parity with the England 
average for the stock of jobs 

per head of population.

Boston has unemployment, which 
is on a par with the national 
average, with the reduction 

delivered through very clearly 
focused targeted interventions 

in key neighbourhoods of 
deprivation such as Fenside.  

These interventions are 
particularly targeted on giving 

young people a stake in the 
community through work.

Boston has a diverse range 
of sustainable employment 

opportunities, with no 
neighbourhood hotspots 

of unemployment and 
disadvantage. This enables 
it to have an unemployment 

level, which is 10% less severe 
than the national average.

Boston has levels of 
unemployment, which are 
considerably better than 
the national average and 

are statistically counted as 
representing zero unemployment 
and which sustain the skills needs 

of its key sectors particularly: 
logistics, agri-tech, digital 

solutions, heritage and learning.

Through a continuing trend 
around the activities set out 
above Boston has 10% more 
jobs per head of population 
than the national average.

Boston builds on its sectoral 
strengths and supply chains, 

which enable it to outstrip the 
national number of jobs by over 

10% on an on-going basis.

Boston surpasses parity with 
the national average for the 

number of businesses in the area 
to the ratio of its population. 
The area begins to develop 
a reputation as a centre of 

enterprise and know how in terms 
of its most distinctive sectors.

Boston has a 50% higher 
proportion of businesses to the 

ratio of people compared to 
the national average. Business 

investors recognise the area as a 
smart location for the provision 

of business growth lending.

Parity with England average 
for proportion of population 

developing level 3+ qualifications, 
no reported skills shortages. 

Recognition as a national 
centre of learning around 
the digital economy, ports 

and logistics, manufacturing 
economy, the learning economy 

and the heritage sector

Boston is in the top 50% of 
settlements in terms of the Indices 
of Deprivation income measure. It 
has a weekly wage based on the 

growth of high value components 
of its industrial base, which is on 
a par with the national average. 

Creation of a nationally significant 
cluster of high value skilled 

workers particularly in relation 
to the logistics, manufacturing 
sector, and the heritage sector, 

which is a key driver of sustainable 
new businesses and jobs growth.

Boston is in the top 33% of 
settlements in terms of the Indices 

of Deprivation income measure. 
It has a self – sustaining number 
of economic sectors operating 
at an international level, which 

provide it with the ability to 
achieve wage levels which are 

better than the national average.

2 4 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 58



O U T C O M E S  A N D  TA R G E T S :
S U S TA I N A B L E  E C O N O M I C 
G R O W T H

INFRASTRUCTURE ENVIRONMENT

5 
YE

A
RS

10
-1

5 
YE

A
RS

30
 Y

EA
RS

HEALTH

Boston is no more than 5% below 
the national average in terms of 

health outcomes as measured by 
the English Indices of Deprivation. 

Through a series of targeted 
employment focused interventions, 
including self employment options 

and through an increase in the range 
and diversity of local jobs levels of 

economic activity fall to comfortably 
below the national average.

A plan to address the 
infrastructure deficits in the 

Boston area is in place with key 
utilities and is being implemented. 

Boston has a dynamic 
infrastructure with no constraints 

for business, which provides 
plenty in the way of utilities, 
access and serviced sites to 

enable to maximise its credentials 
as a port and logistics hub.

A structured pattern of 
investments realises the full 

potential of the town particularly 
in terms of its digital potential.

Boston is a location of choice for 
investment in examples of the 

development of the environmental 
sector, building particularly 

on its strong social enterprise 
infrastructure around local food 

and waste management/recycling. 

Boston has a good reputation 
as a centre of excellence 
as a net zero economy.

Boston is a natural 
location for investment in 

infrastructure appropriate to 
economic development.

Boston achieves a parity or 
outstrips currently regional 

rivals including Kings Lynn and 
Wisbech as a rounded proposition 

for investment building on its 
strengths around logistics, 
heritage and its agri-food.

Boston maintains levels of 
economic inactivity below the 

national average. It is perceived 
as a healthy town with a dynamic 

and adaptable workforce.

Boston has better overall 
levels of health and well-being 

than similar towns in terms 
of size and functionality. 

2 5 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 59



O U T C O M E S  A N D  TA R G E T S :
P R I D E  I N  P L A C E

PEOPLE HOUSING

5 
YE

A
RS

10
-1

5 
YE

A
RS

30
 Y

EA
RS

INVESTMENT

Boston will have a diverse range of 
proposed investments in different 
types of business activity, which 

provide the scope for it to support 
particularly the development of 
high skill, high wage businesses. 

A digital revolution gives more 
people a stake in staying in 

Boston as a location of choice 
to work. The stock of jobs and 

businesses increases. This leads 
to the start of a new demographic 

balance with the working age 
population rising by 2%.

The housing developments 
planned for Boston 
are fully realised.

The creation of more net jobs 
increases the working population 
to 5% above the national average.

Boston is on a clear trajectory 
towards the achievement of the 
houses planned for achievement 
by the end of the current local 

plan period. Homes are designed 
and built to withstand and 

reduce the effects of climate 
change and are accessible.

Boston has a sustainable mix of 
houses in terms of variety and 
affordability which secure its 
transition to a regional rather 

than sub-regional centre.

Boston is a location of choice 
for economically active people 

seeking employment in key 
sectors for which it has an 

international reputation. With 
the growth of the digital sector 

as its key “enabler” It has a 
higher proportion of people in 
the 16-64 age range and lower 
levels of economic inactivity 
than the national average.

Boston will be recognised as a 
smart investment choice for those 

interested in long term sound returns 
from its agri-food, logistics, digital 
and manufacturing sectors. It will 
achieve higher levels of business 

investment than the national average. 
It will have a pipeline of infrastructure 
enabled sites which enable it to meet 
the ongoing demand of businesses 

in its main economic sectors.

Boston will be a natural investment 
choice for those seeking to generate 
effective returns from investment. It 
will have a dynamic pattern of sites 

available for economic development 
and it will have acknowledged 
economic clusters around the 

heritage economy, manufacturing, 
logistics, digital solutions and agri-

food which generate their own 
economic dynamism through a process 

known as agglomeration effects.

2 6 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 60



S PAT I A L  S T R AT E G Y

Our plans for the levelling up of 
Boston’s economy are informed by the 
spatial frameworks for the Town which 
we referenced above. We have been 
particularly sensitive to: Boston’s role 
as a sub-regional service centre in our 
ambitions for the Town; its flood risk 
challenges in terms of our approach to 
sustainable development and its high 
premium heritage cluster in terms of a 
key focus of our investment planning.

This plan is based on the golden weave 
of skills, sustainable economic growth 
and pride in place. This has a spatial 
footprint through the town, which we 
have described as the skills and health 
escalator to recognise the physical 
manifestation of our programme. It 
begins with the station as the portal 
into Boston. This then links people 
directly into the PE21 quarter which 
acts as a health hub and distributes the 
population on a heritage based town 
centre journey across the pedestrian 
footbridge over the Witham and/or a 
skills journey down South Street, through 
the Park and onto the new Mayflower. 
This whole route is accessible by foot or 
bicycle at a length of just over one mile.

2 7 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 61



O V E R A L L  T H E O R Y  O F  C H A N G E

Consolidating all the elements described 
from the outset of the document enables 
us to set out the overall Theory of Change 
for the Town Investment Plan as follows:

BOSTON TOWN FUND THEORY OF CHANGE
KEY ISSUES INTERVENTION PROJECT OUTPUT OUTCOMES

Skills and Aspirations

Very Low Skills Low Levels of Economic 
Inactivity High Levels of Youth Unemployment 
Significant Capacity Amongst Active Elderly

Skills Infrastructure

Mayflower Centre
New Biophilic Learning Destination 
Repurposed Leisure and Learning 

Offer with Pool as key feature Increase in the number of qualifications 
delivered Engagement of new non traditional 

learners, Reduction in Economic InactivityInclusive Growth Progaramme: Holy Trinity 
Initiative and Youth Ambassador Programme

Generation of a community hub 
to engage people in learning and 

development supported by a youth 
focused outreach approach

Sustainable Economic Growth

Unfulfilled Potential of Food and Logistic 
Offer Tired and Underperforming 

Infrastructure (Health, Retail, Housing Stock)

Urban Regeneration and Land use
Port (Centre for Food and 
Fresh Produce Logistics)

A food trade and logistics skills, 
knowledge and innovation hub with 
local, national and global outreach

Increase in jobs Increase in GVA Reduced 
Distance from Markets Increase in people 

visitng Boston Repurposing of Unused 
Buildings to Stimulate Town Centre 

Footfall Creation of a New Residential 
Offer Enhanced Digital Media Capacity

Local Transport Railway Station
A refreshed and refurbished 
railway portal into the town

Remediation and Development of Sites PE21 A new community health hub

Quality Residential Space Smarter Homes
Creation of a pilot programme of 

intelligent adaptations to enable people 
to live independently for loner

Digital Technology Endeavour FM A new community focued digital radio station

Pride in Place

Scope to Enhance Retail Engagement and 
Footfall Limited Utilisation of Heritage Assets 

“USP” Underperforming Visitor Economy

Heritage Assets
St Botolphs - Medieval Library, Lighting 

and Blenkin Memorial Hall Shodfriars Hall

Creation of a new internationally significant 
heritage attraction Exploitation of 

the Visual Attraction (at night) of the 
Heritage Offer to Visitors Creation of a 

Heritage Themed Enterprise Space

Increase in Jobs Increase in GVA Increase 
in Scale and Value of Tourism Sector 

Creation of a Context Promoting Inclusion 
Through Heritage Diversification and 

Enhancement of the Retail Offer
Commercial/Retail Repurposing

Healing the High St, Townscape Heritage 
Project, Wide Bar Gate Shop Front Scheme

A programme of grants and commercial 
support to High Street businesses, 

Development of Learning and Commercial 
Heritage Skills to Realise the Potential 

of the Heritage Offer in Boston

2 8 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 62



2 9 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

6 P R O J E C T S

2 9 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 63



B O S T O N  P R O J E C T S

Boston Railway Station

Health and Leisure Centre

PE21 Boston Town Centre Regeneration

The Stump

Market Place and Heritage Cluster

The Mayflower Centre

3 0 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 64



C O H E R E N C E

This section of the Town Investment Plan sets out 
the individual credentials of our projects, unpacking 
the detail arising from the vision and its rationale 
above.  Each of the projects has been chosen 
following a detailed prioritization process using the 
prioritization tool developed for the Towns Fund. A 
summary of the ranking of the projects included for 
Boston is set out below (more information on the 
judgements is at Appendix):

RANK PROJECTS OVERALL ASSESSMENT 
SCORE

TOWNS 
SPECIFIC CRITERIA

HMT 
GREEN BOOK APPARAISAL 

CRITERIA
MATCH £

TOWNS 

FUND £

1 Digitalisation of Local Radio Station 96% 96% 96% 18,509 82,462

2 Heritage Cluster 94% 92% 96% 1,818,500 1,830,491

3 Smarter Homes 90% 92% 88% 0 250,000

4 St Botolphs Lighting and Library 90% 84% 96% 110,000 230,000

5 Holy Trinity (Inclusive Growth) 88% 88% 88% 75,000 375,000

6 Boston Port 86% 100% 72% 2,500,000 2,000,000

7 PE21 86% 92% 80% tbc 4,750,000

8 Blenkin Memorial Hall 86% 84% 88% 336,000 810,000

9 Shodfriars Building 84% 88% 80%
6,910,888 

(Phase1 1,420,604)
2,074,566

10 Boston Train Station 82% 88% 76% 186,800 2,505,600

11 Youth Ambassadors 82% 72% 92% 20,000 60,000

12 Mayflower Centre 78% 84% 72% 1,300,000 10,000,000

13,275,697 24,968,119

3 1 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 65



P R O J E C T 
P R O F O R M A S

3 2 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 66



  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

As a result of successfully receiving the funding, the project will deliver the following services/facilities:-

1. The first service the project will deliver is a new radio station in Boston that broadcasts on DAB Digital Radio to 
Lincolnshire.

2. A new media outlet championing Boston that broadcasts information to people in Lincolnshire about Boston thereby 
boosting the town’s image as a place to live, visit and work.

3. Providing new industry standard (endorsed by BBC Local and Commercial) local training opportunities in Radio 
Broadcasting which will open doors to employment roles in a variety of back-office and broadcast disciplines; 
presenting, producing, interviewing, audio editing.

4. More volunteering positions available for those that wish to get involved, ranging from those on further education, 
between jobs, retired or NEETs.

5. A great springboard for young people wanting to get a start in the Radio industry and related sectors.
6. Apprenticeships and work experience will be offered as well as building a stronger formal relationship with the local 

College, primary and secondary schools across the Borough.
7. A new service offering affordable advertising options giving local businesses a chance to target listeners across the 

whole county.

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

The project will add digital radio to the economic infrastructure of Boston. It is an important niche 
feature of the connectivity agenda in the town. It will also deliver learning and skills outputs.

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Skills
Arts, Culture and Heritage
Digital

Town Fund Outputs
Increase in the breadth of the local skills offer that responds to local skills needs 
Increased benefit for the public education over the long term
Provision of specialist digital technologies to meet the needs of specific sectors

Town Fund Outcomes

The project will provide an improved arts, cultural and heritage offer that is more visible
 and easier for residents/visitors to access
The project will lead to increased utilisation of digital channels, by businesses, to access/supply 
Goods and services

Impact Impacts include more Boston based radio content, increased footfall, skills and training opportunities in digital radio and the 
opportunity to address a number of the negative perceptions about the town.

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £100,971 to proceed and the ask from the Towns Fund is £82,427

Timescales and Spend Profile Implementation will be from January 2021 to January 2022.

D I G I T I S AT I O N  O F  L O C A L  R A D I O

Put Boston at the centre of the 
commercial radio scene creating 
opportunities, engaging communities 
and changing perceptions of Boston. We 
will achieve this by creating a Digital 
(DAB) Radio Station broadcasting 
from Boston to all of Lincolnshire.  
This funding will increase our 
geographical coverage area, increasing 
our advertising revenue which will 
drive social outcomes including jobs 
and training for young adults.

3 3 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 67



H E R I TA G E  C L U S T E R

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

The project begins from the baseline of a town centre that despite its prominent location, is widely acknowledged to have 
seen better days; having been blighted in recent decades by a proliferation of uncontrolled signage and development. At 
its core the area has many buildings of historic value and which could be made more attractive and inviting and there is a 
growing appetite to see this brought to the fore.

This intervention has the potential to make the town centre more attractive, less cluttered and more coherent, to the benefit 
of locals and visitors and to the wider economy. 

The project will bring about change by engaging with owners, the public and with wider stakeholders (e.g. local authority, 
local community groups) to increase appreciation of the town centre and its potential to offer a beautiful and welcoming 
environment for the many thousands who use it each year.

The project legacy will be a far more attractive town centre helping to generate visitors year round. Shopfront improvements 
will be sustained for decades, with an element of revenue funding dedicated to developing a shopfront design guide and 
better protecting Boston town centre properties within the planning system by preserving the unique, but currently largely 
obscured, seaside-town charm of its core.

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

This is a key part of the pride of place agenda linked directly to the inclusive element of this aspect of the implementation of 
the Towns Fund

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Arts Culture and Heritage
Urban Regeneration Planning and Land Use

Town Fund Outputs New upgraded or protected community hubs, spaces or assets, where this links to inclusive growth

Town Fund Outcomes Improved arts, cultural and heritage offer that is more visible and easier for residents/visitors to access

Impact This forms a key component involved in realising the visitor potential and heritage appeal of Boston as a key economic 
driver

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £3,648,991 with a requirement of £1,830,491 the Towns Fund

Timescales and Spend Profile Implementation will be from March 2022 to April 2024.

The project will transform Boston’s  
historic town centre and key gateway 
to visitors through a comprehensive 
town centre regeneration programme. 
The project will offer grants to building 
owners to invest in their buildings, as 
well as directly funding public realm and 
green space improvements alongside. 
Works will involve replacing signage, 
introducing higher quality shopfronts, 
tackling repairs to frontages, bringing 
vacant upper floors into use and 
making the adjoining street scene and 
surrounding area more attractive and 
welcoming to locals and visitors.

3 4 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 68



C O N N E C T E D  L I V I N G 
( S M A R T E R  H O M E S )
Boston Borough Council ,  NHS 
Lincolnshire and Boston College have 
come together to work with the global 
Smart Home solutions provider Menasco 
to develop and implement digital 
services for Boston homes. 

The project is built around a shared 
ambition to roll out smart home 
technology in the social housing sector. 
The technology provision from Menasco 
is a combination of hardware and 
software to create automation in the 
home. The system comprises devices 
that act as sensors and detectors, which 
can be integrated into a care system. 
This modern automation system can 
also save an average of 50% of energy 
savings per home.

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

People have better health outcomes when they remain independent. The provision of these facilities also provides an 
economic opportunity for the development of a new digital sector in Boston. 

By linking NHS Lincolnshire and Boston College, this project will also develop the mix of technical and clinical skills required 
to deliver high quality technology enabled care, supporting digital learning opportunities with health and social care 
workers. An apprenticeship programme in Smart Home technology for plumbers, engineers and electricians will tackle a 
digital skills gap in this emerging new industry.

The provider, Menasco is committed to working with local training providers and establishing a customer support centre in 
Boston, generating employment opportunities. 

An initial pilot project will act as proof of concept for the wider programme as well as to help both Boston Borough Council 
and Menasco establish the processes necessary for the successful roll out of the whole project.

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives This is a key digital and skills component within the Sustainable Economic Growth section of the Town Investment Plan.

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Digital Connectivity
Urban Regeneration Planning and Land Use
Arts Culture and Heritage

Town Fund Outputs Provision of specialist digital technologies to meet the needs of specific sectors
Delivery of quality residential space

Town Fund Outcomes Increased utilisation of digital channels by businesses to access and/or supply goods and services 
Increased ability for individuals to work remotely/flexibly

Impact
Boston will be a more sustainable and accessible place for vulnerable people to live in, it will have a better stock of 
residential accommodation more suitable to the needs of all residents. A new economic sector will be opened up providing 
training and employment opportunities in the town.

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £250,000 to set up an initial pilot based on 50 homes in the town

Timescales and Spend Profile Implementation will be from April 2021 to March 2022.

3 5 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 69



S T  B O T O L P H ’ S  L I G H T I N G  A N D 
L I B R A R Y  C O N S E R VAT I O N

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

The church’s Parish Library, located over the south porch, is one of the most important in the country, containing nearly 
1,200 books mostly printed in the Sixteenth and Seventeenth centuries although the earliest dates to the 12th century. This 
project will drive up pride of place and tourism interest through
• The preservation of the existing books through the control of temperature, the humidity and lighting. 
• The opening of the Library. Access to the Library to all visitors and the local community on a regular basis. The library is 

currently closed to due to the condition of the books.
• Greater use of display cases to exhibit selected items from the collection on a rotating basis will bring the library to a 

wider public.
• Training of staff and volunteers in conservation of books. New heritage learning experiences and interpretation will 

significantly improve the range and scale of formal and informal learning programs.
• Interpretation scheme e.g. linking the books in the collection to the trade route from Boston to the Continent.
• Lectures and guided tours of the Library and its contents.
• Preservation of the Victorian tapestries and the hatchments some dating back to the reign of Charles I. 
• This project will turn what is the largest covered venue into a flexible space that is designed to accommodate a wide 

range of events and activities and that will draw both audiences and performers from across the world. 
• The new lighting scheme will also enhance the external lighting of the whole building allowing for outdoor displays and 

events to be arranged in conjunction with Arts based and community organisations, particularly when social distancing 
is required. 

• The new scheme will drastically reduce both maintenance and energy costs, which is part of our commitment be carbon 
neutral by 2030.

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

This is a key part of the pride of place agenda linked directly to the inclusive element of this aspect of the implementation of 
the Towns Fund

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Arts Culture and Heritage
Urban Regeneration Planning and Land Use

Town Fund Outputs New upgraded or protected community hubs, spaces or assets, where this links to inclusive growth

Town Fund Outcomes Improved arts, cultural and heritage offer that is more visible and easier for residents/visitors to access

Impact This forms a key component involved in realising the visitor potential and heritage appeal of Boston as a key economic 
driver

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £ 340,000 with a requirement of £230,000 from the Towns Fund

Timescales and Spend Profile Implementation will be from March 2021 to April 2024.

This project aims to develop and 
conserve the medieval l ibrary and 
other historic artefacts throughout 
St Botolph’s through an upgrade and 
redesign of the lighting of St Botolph’s 
Church interior and exterior that will 
enhance this architectural, educational 
and cultural asset for the town. This 
will bring benefits in both economic 
savings and enhanced visitor attraction.  
It will bring reduced long-term 
maintenance and energy running costs 
within a practical and architecturally 
sympathetic l ighting scheme.

3 6 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 70



T H E  T R I N I T Y  C E N T R E  A D A P TAT I O N , 
U P G R A D E  A N D  R E F U R B I S H M E N T

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

The target beneficiaries are those who will benefit from having a modern, flexible, well-equipped facility that serves the 
charitable objectives of Trinity Church, ‘hyper-local’ economic and wellbeing focussed activity in the Skirbeck Parish and 
Ward locality and the wider needs of the people of Boston.  

The project will increase the range of target beneficiaries.  Collaboration with Boston College and LCVS will benefit young 
people, students and job seekers who are on an employment pathway and create opportunities for a broader ‘community’ of 
volunteers, social prescribing and other activity that promotes health and wellbeing. 

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

The project will deliver a key component within the sustainable economic growth agenda of Boston’s plan. It will provide a 
new upgraded community hub linked to inclusive growth.

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework It will provide a new upgraded community hub linked to inclusive growth

Town Fund Outputs

Town Fund Outcomes The project will provide an improved arts, cultural and heritage offer that is more visible and easier for residents/visitors to 
access

Impact

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £375,000 to proceed and the ask from the Towns Fund is £300,000

Timescales and Spend Profile The project will be delivered in 2021 and will take less than 12 months to implement

Investment in the Trinity Centre 
will enable a blended offer of 
faith, economic and community 
activity in collaboration with Boston 
Youth Ambassadors and the iconic 
Boston College Mayflower proposal.  
Remodelling and refurbishing the 
building’s infrastructure and sports 
hall will create an attractive, flexible 
space and increase use by church 
and community groups.  It will enable 
ongoing input into children, young 
people and families to thrive, whilst 
providing a facil ity for activity, 
training and skil ls-based learning for 
all ,  encouraging connectivity across 
a network of community assets and 
facil ities across Boston and supporting 
mental health and economic wellbeing 
in the community.

3 7 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 71



C E N T R E  F O R  F O O D  A N D 
F R E S H  P R O D U C E  L O G I S T I C S

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

The food chain in South Lincolnshire accounts for circa. 29% of employment in Boston and 42% in neighbouring South 
Holland (4% nationally). Lincolnshire and the Fens is the UK centre for fresh produce and along with the Midlands and 
East Anglia, the centre of value-added food processing. The Centre will enable the sector to embrace digitalisation and 
transformational technologies to improve productivity and deliver growth. It will deliver higher skilled and better paid 
jobs and support Boston’s Food Port ambitions. The Centre will have access a private 5G network and will pioneer 5G 
technologies with students and local businesses.  

The sector has acute skills challenges, with 25% of employees classed as being in elementary occupations. Many operative 
roles are becoming increasingly obsolete as businesses invest in automation, driving higher level skills shortages, e.g. in 
engineering, ICT and digital, and increasing the urgency to invest in up-skilling and encouraging new recruits.
Industry also needs additional skills in logistics, trade and international marketing for the food chain to help it develop 
efficient logistics routes and grow trade.  Post Brexit, local companies believe there is an opportunity to grow exports if they 
have the skilled staff to do this.  Imports, which are a key input to South Lincolnshire’s food processing cluster, also demand 
highly developed commercial skills to ‘do the deals’ and negotiate the best logistic and supply chain options.  Boston 
College and the University will work collaboratively to develop these skills, both for new entrants and the existing workforce.

Boston College has an exemplary reputation for the delivery of engineering, manufacturing and digital skills to Level 5 
and beyond, whilst the NCFM is a specialist provider of apprenticeships from levels 2 to 7, research and innovation for 
the UK’s Food Manufacturing sector. At the NCFM, IoT investment in digital teaching space on the Food Enterprise Zone 
complements the food robotics and automation research centre and ‘learning factory’ for apprentices. At Boston College, 
investment in the EMAT (Engineering, Manufacturing and Applied Technologies Centre) and  the Digital, Transport and 
Logistics Academy (DTLA) and the IoT development provides the platform for developing a significant range of new 
provision. The partners will develop a full offer of skills training with full, part-time and distance learning options and with 
their strong partnerships with local academies, provide a pipeline of young talent with the right skills. The Centre will focus 
on engaging adults in the sector and ‘hard-to-reach groups from within the local community. 

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

The project aligns with our Skills and Enterprise strategic framework in that it provides increased: 
• capacity and accessibility to new skills facilities and specialist equipment, 
• closer collaboration with employers 
• breadth of the local skills offers which responds directly to local skills needs
• skills infrastructure and long-term benefit to public education

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Digital connectivity
Enterprise infrastructure
Skills Infrastructure

Town Fund Outputs

• Numbers of businesses supported – 120 
• Number of businesses engaged in research and innovation projects – 40 
• Numbers of businesses develop new or products and services – 40 
• Numbers of businesses engaged in skills development – 100 
• Number of learners partaking in courses – 300 
• Number of new learners partaking in courses – 100

Town Fund Outcomes Increased share of young people and adults who have relevant skills for employment and entrepreneurship

Impact Increased digitalisation of businesses leading to productivity growth, supporting clean growth and Covid recovery, including 
through job creation

Ask and Match Funding

The total project value is £5 million. This includes £2m ask from the Town Deal spread over 4 years (£1.5m revenue and 
£0.5 m capital) to fund a project team with specialists in both skills delivery and in leading research and innovation with 
businesses, along with capital to install a private 5G network.  The project is supported by £2.5 m of match funding secured 
through a mix of staff time, capital equipment purchases and overhead costs.  

Timescales and Spend Profile The project has the potential to be mobilised very quickly. We would aim to start in 2021 with the project of 4 years duration. 

Led by the University of Lincoln in 
partnership with Boston College, 
the project will develop a food trade 
and logistics skil ls, knowledge and 
innovation hub with local, national and 
global outreach. The future prosperity 
of the sector is reliant on meeting 
higher-level skil ls and innovation needs 
to enable the wide-scale adoption of 
industrial digital technologies to drive 
supply chain efficiencies, access to 
global markets and advanced crop 
storage. The project cements and 
builds on the strengths of Boston 
College and the University’s National 
Centre for Food Manufacturing (NCFM) 
as prestigious skil ls hubs of the 
Lincolnshire Institute of Technology 
(IoT), both having recently befitted 
from significant capital investment in 
new facil ities to support the food and 
logistics sectors. 

3 8 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 72



P E 2 1  T O W N  C E N T R E  R E G E N E R AT I O N

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

• This is a core cluster of buildings in a central part of Boston which forms a natural regeneration cluster, providing scope 
to repurpose and redevelop the Town Centre offer taking account of covid-19 and the challenges of developing a 
sustainable long term future of the town centre as a physical and health setting.

• From our engagement with the public in 2019 there is widespread support for focussing on prevention & self-care and 
there is also widespread support for joined-up, proactive, local community services.  These are key themes in our Long 
Term Plan. People want more information, advice and guidance about how to make better lifestyle choices and an 
affordable and supportive infrastructure to achieve this.  Boston has lower levels of physical activity than the England 
average and higher levels of obesity and cardiovascular disease.

• The integrated hub would fit with the Lincolnshire NHS aspirations regarding Integrated Community Care which is 
underpinned by the following principles: 

• Holistic health and care configured around service users, 
• Population health and care needs that are fully understood and services provided in line with those needs, including 

a much greater focus on prevention and supported self-management in the community in partnership with the 
community and community groups; 

• Focus on wider determinants of health and wellbeing in an integrated way with other public sector partners including: 
DWP, Education & skills, housing 

• A workforce that supports integration and is underpinned by a set of values based behaviours; 
• Health and care that is delivered at home first and digitally as default; 
• Communities and individuals are empowered to make their own choices and access the support that they need. 
• Encourage residents to become more active through the work with the Leisure Centre and use these facilities for health 

promotion and prevention

Key benefits to the System:
• Integrated Community Care – including Neighbourhood Teams, keeping care local and reducing avoidable hospital 

attendances 
• Sustainable Primary Care – attracting and retaining the GPs ad other health and care professionals into Boston. 

Supporting Primary Care Networks to work more collaboratively together and to provide more resilient primary care 
and the capacity increases needed to meet the planned housing growth in the Boston area.  

• Estates and Capital rationalisation- provides estate rationalisation and disposal opportunities

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

This project will deliver the main component of the regeneration of the centre of Boston.  
The NHS as an anchor tenant will support and attract other parts of the PE21 vision and development
It will facilitate and support the improvement of health and wellbeing outcomes for the local residents

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework Delivery of quality residential and commercial space in key locations (town centres, gateway areas, employment sites)

Town Fund Outcomes

Enhanced townscape that is more attractive and more accessible to residents businesses and visitors
Sustainable urban growth with the NHS and Leisure as anchor tenants
Enhanced Pride of Place through a more attractive regenerated gateway to Boston linking to the Station enhancements and 
the Heritage offers

Impact
This is a flagship feature of the sustainable economic growth element of the Town Investment Plan.  It provides impact on 
multiple levels linking a number of the other key schemes and provides the link between the station developments and the 
heritage offers in the heart of historic Boston

Ask and Match Funding Up to £4.75m from the Towns Fund , target of £2.5m from NHS, local authority and market sources including operating 
costs in the form of revenue support

Timescales and Spend Profile This project will run from March 2021- December 2025.

This project presents an exciting and 
transformational opportunity to open up, 
improve and re-balance the relationship 
and connectivity between east and west 
side of the River Haven. Accessible routes 
will l ink the railway station (Town Fund 
project) to the town centre through 
pedestrian oriented and better designed 
footways, green spaces, and reduced 
vehicle movements with a new linear park 
at its heart. A vibrant and attractive place 
for residents and visitors will give them 
access to better educational facil ities 
(Town Fund project) and help them live 
healthier l ives. PE21 will lead to increased 
connectivity within the town by creating 
footfall and income generation through a 
variety of uses including a new combined 
health and leisure facil ity in partnership 
with NHS Lincolnshire CCG, much-needed 
town centre l iving, retail opportunities and 
integrated community facil ities.
The Towns Fund as the first stage of the 
project will support, a new NHS Health 
Centre hosting a combined facil ity to 
potentially support up to 29,000 patients 
and engage them more widely in skil ls and 
personal development activities.
This project has received accelerator 
funding to facil itate critical design work, 
technical and viability studies at pace.
Market validation and partner engagement 
will continue to support the development 
of PE21 and enable a mixed funding 
proposal.

3 9 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 73



B L E N K I N  M E M O R I A L  H A L L

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

Responding to the regeneration challenges facing Boston, this project seeks to:
• Provide professional space -Flexible Office hubs for businesses - Coaching/mentoring/interview skills/CV skills workshops 

Training Centre.  Bespoke office / meeting space to rent on an ad hoc basis fully equipped with telephone, broadband and 
computers. Increasing number of people and businesses are working remotely and no longer require the overhead costs 
of a fixed office space. New businesses will be able to develop without the need of initial set up costs of fixed overheads.  
This will also allow for a culture to develop were businesses will meet more often have the opportunity to support each 
other and exchange good practices. Creating an environment that will allow businesses to network and exchange ideas 
and problem solve, regular seminar meetings with banks, investment brokers and IT and Marketing specialists. These 
business hubs will also assist in the leadership program and directly benefit from its success, as the next generation of 
business leaders emerge from it.

• Provide space for mentoring, coaching and life skills by providing Individual and group workshops, particularly aimed at 
those who lack the skills or confidence to become entrepreneurial and future leaders.

• Develop an ‘Inspiring Leadership’ course for young people. In partnership and consultation with local businesses and 
schools a leadership course for young people is going to be developed and based in the BMH. 

• Literacy and numeracy classes particularly to those who have slipped through the net of the current educational system 
and to the migrant population.

• Provide facilities that will support activities that will encourage community integration and cohesion, providing 
volunteering roles with opportunities for ongoing training, with coffee and chat groups. Language skill development. 

• Provide emergency food and facilities for those in need 
• Providing Rough Sleepers Breakfast Club - Involvement in the town’s rough sleepers cascade of care arrangements Toilet 

and washing facilities 
• Children’s Holiday Lunch Club - National reports have reported that children in deprived areas often lose weight in the 

holidays because school meals are not available. Therefore, this summer we are establishing this club which will be based 
in the BMH and wish this to continue to support.

• A new song school to be developed for children, young people and adults to help them develop their existing musical gifts 
as well as develop new ones.  We have recently launched a Community Choir that is self-sufficient with circa 60 members 
We have recently established a children’s choir with 12 members

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

This is a key part of the pride of place agenda linked directly to the inclusive element of this aspect of the implementation of 
the Towns Fund

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Arts Culture and Heritage
Urban Regeneration Planning and Land Use

Town Fund Outputs New upgraded or protected community hubs, spaces or assets, where this links to inclusive growth
Delivery of quality residential space

Town Fund Outcomes Improved arts, cultural and heritage offer that is more visible and easier for residents/visitors to access
Increased ability for individuals to work remotely/flexibly

Impact
The redevelopment of the Blenkin Memorial Hall for multi-purpose community use will encourage people to continue to 
shop in the town, visit the key heritage buildings, lessen the economic impact of the shop closures as well as provide a self-
sustaining future for this key and central historic building. 

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £ 1,146,000  with a requirement of £810,000 from the Towns Fund

Timescales and Spend 
Profile Implementation will be from March 2021 to March 2024.

The repair, renovation and 
redevelopment of the Blenkin Memorial 
Hall for multi-purpose community 
use, to provide a building that can be 
used, through personal development, 
education, entrepreneurial space, to 
enrich the lives of all who use it, to 
encourage life-long learning; as well as 
providing a self-sustaining future for 
this key and central historic building. 

4 0 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 74



S H O D F R I A R S  T R U S T

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

This is the only major heritage building of the Cultural Quarter that is not currently in use (the others being the Guildhall, 
Fydell House and Blackfriars), and the only one visible from the Market Place. It would therefore form an important link 
between the Market Place and the Cultural Quarter. We are already in close contact with the other heritage sites and intend 
to continue to co-operate with them to our mutual benefit to increase local engagement with use of the facilities as well as 
increase the current Boston’s tourism offer.

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

This is a key part of the pride of place agenda linked directly to the inclusive element of this aspect of the implementation 
of the Towns Fund

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Arts Culture and Heritage
Urban Regeneration Planning and Land Use

Town Fund Outputs New upgraded or protected community hubs, spaces or assets, where this links to inclusive growth

Town Fund Outcomes Improved arts, cultural and heritage offer that is more visible and easier for residents/visitors to access

Impact This forms a key component involved in realising the visitor potential and heritage appeal of Boston as a key economic 
driver

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £8,985,454 with a requirement of £2,074,566 from the Towns Fund

Timescales and Spend Profile Implementation will be from March 2022 to April 2024.

Shodfriars is Grade 2* l isted and 
officially At Risk.
We plan to preserve the medieval 
frontage as Phase 1, and the Victorian 
Hall as Phase 2.
The renovated building will have a 
wide variety of community uses, such 
as performances, events, dance studio, 
offices and café/restaurant.

4 1 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 75



B O S T O N  S TAT I O N

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

creating a welcoming environment the principle is to encourage travel by train through investment in the railway 
infrastructure. With the East Midlands Railway franchise delivering improvements to the on train experience over the next 
3 years with the increase in train capacities (all cars are minimum of 2 carriages as of May 2020) and the introduction of 
new rolling stock improving the on train environment, the investment in the station and it’s environment will ensure a more 
positive experience for all. With this continued investment it is thought to create the ripple effect of people investing in 
Boston with improved perceptions of the rail experience and through positive work with the council and EMR marketing, 
positive perception of travel by train and close commuting links by rail to towns such as Grantham and Nottingham could 
improve inward investment through property purchase and relocation. The increase in footfall will then further enable the 
rail network to continue its onward investment in this station and other stations in the region, by utilising the increase in 
revenue generation, creating a positive cycle of investment for the future.

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives This is the flagship project within the Towns Fund portfolio in relation to the connectivity strand within the fund.

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Connectivity
Arts Culture and Heritage

Town Fund Outputs New revived and upgraded train stations
New upgraded or protected community hubs, spaces or assets where this links to local inclusive growth

Town Fund Outcomes
Improved affordability, convenience, reliability and sustainability of travel options to and from places of work
Improved affordability, convenience, reliability and sustainability of travel options to and from places of interest
Improved arts, cultural and heritage offer that is more visible and easier for residents/visitors to access

Impact

Assumed 1 no. additional cleaner for increase in facilities
Assumed 4 no. café staff
Assumed 1 no SME employee per unit
Assumed 15 pupils per visit with assumed 6 visits per year (mix of primary/high school/college use)
Assumed 2 SME businesses created utilising space on station and 1 Café business created.
Assumed turnover of 1 SME per year  after initial 18 month/ 2 year lease with anticipated movement in to larger facilities 
following initial development term with station facilities, releasing space for new SME each year
Floor space assumed 54m2 for café, 25m2 SME Office space
No assumptions included for labour during construction as this is anticipated to be short term employment only.

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £2,692,600 to proceed and the ask from the Towns Fund is £2,505,600

Timescales and Spend Profile Implementation will be from March 2021 to June 2024.

The project will enable the delivery of a new 
community/retail café facil ity by developing the 
redundant unit between the ticket hall and the 
existing restaurant unit, providing a new welcoming 
hub to the centre of the station building. The 
refurbishment of the existing ticket hall and ticket 
office will create a new open and hospitable feel 
ticket hall and waiting space, encompassing the 
community feel by providing an improved space 
for the book share and a calm place to meet and 
wait. The project seeks to bring the customer space 
together by relocating the split toilet facil ities and 
creating an array of unisex toilet cubicles (which will 
enable use during distancing measures whilst also 
taking in to consideration protected characteristics 
and a move away from segregation) This will 
additionally create a baby change & feeding facil ity, 
and additional accessible toilets. The relocation of 
existing toilet facil ities will enable the release of 
space to the far end of the station to be created in 
to secure space for Rail ,  Community and SME use, 
creating potentially 4 units for use, including private 
accessible toilet.

The exterior of the building and platforms will see 
some works in regards to aesthetics, with some 
refurbishment and painting works to the main canopy 
and over bridge, repair works to the lime render to 
create a uniformed appearance throughout. The sash 
windows will be repaired and restored with uniformed 
glazing throughout, along with repair to the render 
at the station entrance, new lighting to both the 
building exterior and canopy and refurbishment of 
the station British Rail sign, all working towards 
restoring the building back to its former glory.
Further external works are proposed to the waiting 
shelters on platform 2, improved station and 
directional signage, installation of new Community 
Rail planters and proposal for a statue at the front of 
the station in the main planter.
Works are also to be undertaken in order to regain 
the land on the Asda side back in to use as a station 
facil ity, providing car parking on the platform 2 side 
of the station.

4 2 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 76



YO U T H  A M B A S S A D O R S ,  C O M M U N I T Y
I N F R A S T R U C T U R E  A N D  S O C I A L  C A P I TA L

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

The project is fundamentally about people and place and enabling potential.  It will deliver services that create the 
conditions for economic success through nurturing the next generation of community leaders, upskilling young people (the 
Boston Youth Ambassadors) and building social capital through community action and collaboration.

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

The project will deliver a key component within the sustainable economic growth agenda of Boston’s plan. It will engage 
with the local community to ensure a pipeline of civic leaders are enable to support the future development of the Town 
and it will form part of the outreach element of the work of the Mayflower Centre, supporting its skills and inclusive growth 
agenda.

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Skills
Arts, Culture and Heritage

Town Fund Outputs

Increase in the breadth of the local skills offer that responds to local skills needs 
Increased benefit for the public education over the long term
The project will provide an improved arts, cultural and heritage offer that is more visible and easier for residents/visitors to 
access

Town Fund Outcomes

The outcomes of this project are a precursor to ‘levelling-up’ and will help to underpin long-term economic success.  
In combination, the Youth Ambassadors project with other ‘hands-on’ community development activity will increase 
economic skills, promote employability and promote cohesive, vibrant communities of place and of interest.  This will play 
an integral part in delivering social value and ensuring strong strategic alignment and return on investment in cornerstone 
facilities with long-term Boston Town Deal priorities including:

• Skills and Enterprise – enabling development of key employment skills.
• Connectivity – building social capital and connecting communities and people into the wider consideration of digital 

and other connectivity ambitions.
• Urban regeneration, planning and land use – strengthening grassroots process that enable those who care about 

Boston to play a full role in realising the Town Deal vision.

Impact

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £80,000 to proceed and the ask from the Towns Fund is £60,000

Timescales and Spend Profile The project will be delivered in 2021 and 2022 running from April to March in each year

This project is a component within 
the Boston Mayflower concept. The 
project will upskil l  and nurture future 
leaders, prepare young people for the 
job market and enable a strong local 
culture and shared community activities.  
Youth Ambassadors will develop 
practical leadership, communication, 
and other transferrable skil ls.  They will 
create teams of young people that can 
organise and deploy in ‘task and finish’ 
projects, volunteering, and internships 
to help businesses and community 
where need is identified.  The project 
will employ a part-time Community 
Development specialist and a full-time 
apprentice who will foster collaborative 
community action and create the 
conditions for achieving Inclusive 
Growth outcomes.  It will also link to 
the Trinity Centre in terms of animation 
activities for the use of that facil ity.

4 3 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 77



T H E  M AY F L O W E R  C E N T R E

  Project Details

Project Rationale
Theory of Change

The need to support increased economic growth and productivity in the town is fundamental: to the town’s future, to the 
Towns Deal and to the College’s purpose and existence.  Mayflower will provide an inspirational space to raise aspirations 
and super-charge community and employer engagement with the other critical investments that have been made at the 
College – specifically the Institute of Technology, the Engineering, Manufacturing and Technology Centre and the Digital, 
Transport, Logistics Academy. The focus of these buildings on the LEP’s key priority sectors of Engineering and Ports and 
Logistics ensure that the College’s provision is aligned with the economic priorities of the town and local area. 
If lockdown has done one positive thing, it has accelerated the move towards digital connectivity and highlighted the 
need to ensure that everyone is taken on the journey to digital literacy and confidence.  This is especially important in 
Boston where LEP estimates are that across Lincolnshire just over 100,000 people aged 16 plus had either never used the 
internet or not used it in the last 3 months. This is around 11.3% of the local population compared to a UK average of 7.5%, 
demonstrating the scope of the challenge to get Boston ready for the fourth Industrial Revolution and to ensure that our 
local working age population are equipped with the skills that employers need (SAP Analysis Aug 2020 p15 and p27).  
Digital upskilling is another way in which Mayflower will encourage engagement with the local community by providing the 
skills that people need in an informal, flexible and motivating environment.

Alignment with Boston’s
Investment Plan Objectives

The project will deliver against skills and enterprise theme of the Boston Investment Plan. It is a flagship statement and 
commitment to driving forward a learning and growth agenda for the Town in a most ambitious and engaging way.

Town Fund Intervention 
Framework

Digital connectivity 
Urban regeneration, planning and land use 
Arts, culture and heritage 
Skills infrastructure

Town Fund Outputs

Provision of specialist digital technologies to meet the needs of specific sectors 
Remediation and/or development of abandoned or dilapidated sites
Delivery of quality residential or commercial space in key locations (town centres, gateway areas, employment sites) 
Delivery of new public spaces
New, upgraded or protected community centres, sports or athletics facilities, museums, arts venues, theatres, libraries, film 
facilities, prominent landmarks or historical buildings, parks or gardens
New, upgraded or protected community hubs, spaces or assets, where this links to local inclusive growth
Increase in capacity and accessibility to new or improved skills facilities 
Availability of new specialist equipment 
Increased and closer collaboration with employers 
Increase in the breadth of the local skills offer that responds to local skills needs 
Increased benefit for the public education over the long term

Town Fund Outcomes

The project will provide an improved arts, cultural and heritage offer that is more visible and easier for residents/visitors to 
access
Increased utilisation of digital channels by businesses to access and/or supply goods and services
Enhanced townscape that is more attractive and more accessible to residents, businesses and visitors
Increased share of young people and adults who have relevant skills for employment and entrepreneurship

Impact

The LEP has two main skills priorities:
To inspire and support young people to stay and work in the area
To train and support people who are already working, or seeking jobs, so that they gain the skills needed to take up future 
job vacancies
This project will support both of these LEP priorities because the development of Boston with significant investment 
and national profile will encourage young people to stay in the area, or to return after university, and the Mayflower’s 
encouragement of those already in the workplace that skills development is something that is achievable by them, and that 
the College is here to support people exactly like them, will be critical to the economy’s success.  Our target beneficiaries 
are already here, love Boston and have made it their home.  One of the College’s overseas agents told Ofsted: ‘Studying 
at Boston College has been an enriching experience for our students and has helped them mature and broaden their 
horizons.’  It is time for more of Boston’s residents to experience this for themselves. We owe it to our local community to 
provide them with the opportunities they need to improve their life chances.

Ask and Match Funding The project will require £16,300,000 to proceed and the ask from the Towns Fund is £10,000,000

Timescales and Spend Profile June 2021 to September 2023.

Mayflower re-imagines the FE College, 
where botanical gardens provide a 
haven from the elements and where the 
whole community can find sanctuary, 
hope and future prosperity. 
The radical, biophilic Mayflower 
connects us with each other, with 
businesses, enterprise, innovation and 
new thinking and the natural world, 
providing space for the town’s economic 
relaunch; tackling our communities’ 
embedded low aspirations and skil ls 
through innovative living learning 
spaces enabling digital upskil l ing with 
on-hand support and tuition. 
Open, welcoming and nature-fil led, 
Mayflower provides space for voluntary 
services, careers advice and health and 
wellbeing support as well as space to 
support skil ls development.

4 4 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 78



4 5 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

B
o

st
o

n 
M

ay
fl

o
w

er
 

C
en

tr
e

H
er

it
ag

e 
C

lu
st

er

P
E

21

S
m

ar
te

r
H

o
m

es

H
o

ly
 T

ri
ni

ty
 

In
it

ia
ti

ve

P
o

rt

E
nd

ea
vo

ur
F

M R
ai

lw
ay

LOCAL TRANSPORT

Train or tram lines and stations
Walking/cycle paths

Sector Specific Technology

Remediation and development of sites
Quality residential or commercial space
New Public Spaces

Increase in capacity or access to new or improved facilities 
New equipment 
Increased employer collaboration 
Broader skills responding to local needs 
Long term public education benefit 

Increase in affordable commercial floorspace 
Increase in shared workspace and innovation facilities 
Schemes to support enterprise and business productivity

DIGITAL CONNECTIVITY

URBAN REGENERATION

ARTS CULTURE HERITAGE

SKILLS

ENTERPRISE INFRASTRUCTURE

The projects, which deliver 
these outcomes are set out 
in more detail further on in 
our Town Investment Plan but 
their coverage of the Towns 
Fund intervention framework is 
illustrated in the table below:

Community centres, sports, museums, libraries, parks
Community hubs linked to inclusive growth

I N T E R V E N T I O N  F R A M E W O R K

P
age 79



4 6 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

7 D E L I V E R Y

P
age 80



PA R T N E R S H I P S :
D E L I V E R Y  TA B L E

D
ig

it
al

is
at

io
n 

of
 L

oc
al

 R
ad

io
 

St
at

io
n

H
er

it
ag

e 
C

lu
st

er

Sm
ar

te
r 

H
om

es

St
 B

ot
ol

ph
s 

Li
gh

ti
ng

 a
nd

 
Li

br
ar

y

H
ol

y 
Tr

in
it

y 
(In

cl
us

iv
e 

G
ro

w
th

)

Bo
st

on
 P

or
t

PE
21

Bl
en

ki
n 

M
em

or
ia

l H
al

l

Sh
od

fr
ia

rs
 

Bu
ild

in
g

Bo
st

on
 T

ra
in

 
St

at
io

n

Yo
ut

h 
A

m
ba

ss
ad

or
s

M
ay

fl
ow

er
 

C
en

tr
e

TO
TA

LS

M
AT

C
H

 £

18,509 1,818,500 0 110,000 75,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 336,000 6,910,888 186,800 20,000 1,300,000 15,775,697

TO
W

N
S 

FU
N

D
 

CO
ST

 £

82,462 1,830,491 250,000 230,000 375,000 2,000,000 4,750,000 810,000 2,074,566 2,505,600 60,000 10,000,000 24,968,119

O
U

TP
U

TS
 /

 O
U

TC
O

M
ES Increase in capacity and 

accessibility to new digital 
skills facilities. Numbers 
accessing facility p.a.

           100000 100,000

Increased collaboration 
with employers resulting 
in number of emergent 
projects per year

     100      5 105

Increase in the amount 
of incubation and 
shared innovation 
facilities by metre sq

           500 500

Business facilities attracting 
number of new businesses 
to the area per year

           7 7

New community hubs, 
spaces where this linked 
to local inclusive growth

      1     1 2

New jobs created  100      6 55    161

Businesses Assisted to 
Improve Performance

        26    26

New Qualifications 240            240

New Learners Assisted  20    80 400  1016    1,516

New Businesses Created         6    6

Heritage Asset Protected    1    1 1    3

4 7 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 81



PA R T N E R S H I P S :
D E L I V E R Y  TA B L E  C O N T I N U E D

D
ig

it
al

is
at

io
n 

of
 L

oc
al

 R
ad

io
 

St
at

io
n

H
er

it
ag

e 
C

lu
st

er

Sm
ar

te
r 

H
om

es

St
 B

ot
ol

ph
s 

Li
gh

ti
ng

 a
nd

 
Li

br
ar

y

H
ol

y 
Tr

in
it

y 
(In

cl
us

iv
e 

G
ro

w
th

)

Bo
st

on
 P

or
t

PE
21

Bl
en

ki
n 

M
em

or
ia

l H
al

l

Sh
od

fr
ia

rs
 

Bu
ild

in
g

Bo
st

on
 T

ra
in

 
St

at
io

n

Yo
ut

h 
A

m
ba

ss
ad

or
s

M
ay

fl
ow

er
 

C
en

tr
e

TO
TA

LS

M
AT

C
H

 £

18,509 1,818,500 0 110,000 75,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 336,000 6,910,888 186,800 20,000 1,300,000 15,775,697

TO
W

N
S 

FU
N

D
 

CO
ST

 £

82,462 1,830,491 250,000 230,000 375,000 2,000,000 4,750,000 810,000 2,074,566 2,505,600 60,000 10,000,000 24,968,119

O
U

TP
U

TS
 /

 O
U

TC
O

M
ES Increased Footfall  10000  20000   20000  20000    70,000

New Learners Assisted    60     1000    1,060

Training Opportunities for 
Learners and Volunteers

   120    520     640

Properties Improved 
and Repaired

 30           30

Shared Workspace and 
Innovation Facilities

       1     1

Increased Breadth 
of Local Skills

 20     1 20     41

Enterprises Using Affordable 
Commercial Space

     100  4     104

% Learners Gaining 
Relevant Experience

   50      3   53

New repaired or 
upgraded stations

         1   1

TI
M

ES
C

A
LE

S

2021 2021-25 2021-22 2021-22  2021-24 2021-23 2021-22 2021-23 2021-23 2021-24 2021-25  

D
EL

IV
ER

Y 
LE

A
D

Endeavour 
FM

Heritage 
Lincolnshire

Boston 
Borough 
Council

St Botolphs 
Church

Holy Trinity 
Church

University 
of Lincoln

Lincolnshire 
STP

St Botolphs 
Church

Shodfriars 
Trust

East Midlands 
Railway

Lincolnshire 
CVS

Boston 
College  

4 8 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 82



We set out below key themes 
which have informed and 
align with the development 
of the Towns Investment 
Plan. They complement the 
key strategies which have 
informed our thinking and 
are referenced above.

Locally Relevant 
Broader Strategies 
a. Greater Lincolnshire Destination 
Management Plan – this identifies the potential 
for Boston to improve its visitor offer and act as 
a key driver for expanding the visitor economy 
locally and for the county as a whole.

b. GLLEP Local industrial strategy - For 
Boston, the strategy acknowledges the importance 
of the food sector, the college and port, and the 
challenges of deprivation, health care, 4G coverage 
and broadband speed. The draft LIS contains an 
overarching strategic priority to: work together to 
make towns stronger, not individually but collectively.

c. Greater Lincolnshire AgriFood Sector Plan 
was first developed in 2014 and updated in 2017 
to take account of Brexit, changes in technology 
and the need to address the challenges of labour 
supply and rising labour costs.  The sector is at 
the core of the LEP Covid Recovery Plan (2020) 
which support a focus on digitalisation, trade and 
automation, all themes which will be delivered by the 
focus on logistics skills and innovation at the Port.

d. UK Food Strategy (part 1 2020) focused 
on the need to address the link between diet 
and ill health and food trade.  The food cluster 
in South Lincolnshire, focused on fresh produce, 
is well placed to gain from the increased focus 
on eating fresh produce this signals.  Part 2 of 
the strategy (due in summer 2021) will focus on 
innovation and support the focus of the Centre 
for Food and Fresh Produce Logistics.

e. National character area profile: 46. The Fens. 
This stresses the importance of local heritage assets 
like the Boston Stump, classified as an iconic local 
building, acting as strong marker and draw in the 
landscape. It also supports the long-term aspirations 
to open up fen waterways links opening up the fens 
for boating, recreation and tourism. The importance of 
Boston’s port is also key to the settlement pattern and 
history of the area, as is the historic settlement itself. 

f. Tourism sector deal – improving 
visitor infrastructure to allow Boston to 
better “punch its weight” in tourism terms is 
a key part of this countywide strategy.

The Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership’s (GLLEP) emerging Greater Lincolnshire 
Coastal Vision is drawing together strategies and 
plans (including this strategy) that set out significant 
aspirations for the future of Coastal Greater 
Lincolnshire into a coherent whole. While focusing on 
its ambitions for the coast’s contribution to Greater 
Lincolnshire’s economic growth, GLLEP’s vision is 
that by 2035, coastal communities and businesses 
will be good opportunities for investment because 
of secure water supply and flood risk management, 
a planning policy that supports appropriate growth 
and the environment, and a thriving visitor economy 
that benefits local communities and visitors alike. 
This includes a Wild Coast Vision for the Lincolnshire 
coast seeks to deliver a sustainable natural coastal 
environment providing high quality facilities for 
communities and visitors, improvements for wildlife 
and contributing to a healthy local economy. 

The UK 25 Year Environment Plan (Defra, 2018) 
identifies goals and targets to improve the UK 
environment and achieve: clean air; clean and 
plentiful water; thriving plants and wildlife; 
reductions in the risks of harm from environmental 
hazards; sustainable and efficient use of natural 
resources; enhancement of the beauty, heritage 
and engagement with the natural environment; 
minimisation of waste; mitigation and adaptation 
to climate change; enhancement of biosecurity 
and the management of exposure to chemicals.

The evolution of the Medium Term Covid Recovery 
Plan, coordinated by Greater Lincolnshire LEP 
has influenced and will form an ongoing focus for 
the roll out of our proposals. Its sectoral focus on 

PA R T N E R S H I P S : 
A L I G N M E N T

4 9 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 83



Port and Logistics and the food sector is highly 
relevant to our plans as are the assessment of 
impact and priorities for Southern Lincolnshire:

Port and Logistics
Priorities for Years 1-5 

• Develop a proposal for a Centre for Food Logistics 
based around the Boston port, providing training 
in logistics and trade. The linked, commercially 
led project to develop the food port will allow 
agri-food firms to import and export food 
closer to their production facilities, reducing 
costs, improving timeliness and supply chain 
efficiency and reducing their carbon footprint

• Deliver the Trans-Midlands Trading Corridor, 
in partnership with Midlands Engine 

Southern Lincolnshire
Covid-19 impact

• The nationally important food corridor across 
Southern Lincolnshire has played a major 
role in keeping the UK fed throughout the 
pandemic, though the rapid shift in demand 
from food service to food retail has placed 
a significant strain on the local business 
base, with horticulture also taking a hit. 

Priorities include 

• Building on the successful development 
of the Food Enterprise Zone, developing 
the ‘UK Food Valley’ with the LEP and 
making the area an attractive location for 
inward investment in the food chain. 

• Ensuring that there is a labour pool with 
the advanced skills needed to deal with 
changing consumer demands of the food 
industry, particularly post-Brexit 

Capacity
Boston Borough Council has established a strategic 
alliance with East Lindsey District Council. The 
two authorities working together have established 
significant capacity, which gives assurance they 
will be able to oversee and deliver this programme 
of major regeneration. The two organisations are 
not working alone, they have engaged the support 
of Boston College, Lincolnshire CVS and Heritage 
Lincolnshire (built environment specialists) to 
bring together a talented team focused on “getting 
the town deal done.” Each partner along with 
support on key themes from the University of 
Lincoln, LEP and County Council has led on the 
development of the three key pillars of the Boston 
Plan: The College on Skills and Enterprise, the 
Borough and CVS on Sustainable Economic Growth 
and Heritage Lincolnshire on Pride of Place.

Collaboration
The Town Deal in Boston has clear private sector 
leadership with Neil Kempster as Chair Director 
at major regeneration player Chestnut Homes 
and Chairman of Boston Football Club. Other 
key private sector members include the Chief 
Executive of Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce 
and Chief Executive of the Port of Boston.

Key representatives from civic society include the 
Chief Executives of the Citizens Advice Bureau, 
Council for Voluntary Services, the Head from Haven 
High School and the Rector of St Botolph’s Church. 
Claire Foster, Principal of Boston College, is Vice 
Chair of the Board and Professor Val Braybrooks 
represents the University of Lincoln.  Executive 
Committee member Eddy Poll from Lincolnshire 
County Council is also represented on the Board.

Wider direct engagement has involved: extensive 
analysis and engagement with the MyTown results 
from the public consultation exercise a local 
promotions and feedback process to the public 
and extensive use of social media channels to 
report on the development of the initiative.

A Technical Sub-Group of the Board has been 
developed to support the more detailed and where 
necessary independent analysis of proposals. 

PA R T N E R S H I P S : 
A L I G N M E N T

5 0 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 84



Towns Fund Social Value Charter
In addition to our detailed community liaison to date we have begun working 
with Goole as a similar “peer town” to consider how we can best ensure the 
ongoing engagement and involvement of the community. This has involved 
beginning to develop the concept of a Social Value Charter to provide an 
evaluation framework. We have followed the principles set out in the report by 
the Local Government Think Tank Localis: “Brighten All Corners.” This involves 
mapping the proposed outcomes from the Town Investment Plan to social value 
financial proxies. These are then tested with a representative sample of the 
community and used as part of a reporting framework to both feedback to and 
further engage the delivery of the Towns Fund by way of a formative approach 
to its implementation. Lincolnshire CVS and Boston College are currently both 
involved in working with us to begin this dialogue with people in Boston. Goole 
is due to submit its Town Investment Plan in January 2021 and we are intending 
to share our current experiences with them and then post the implementation 
of both Charters to main a compare and dialogue with them as a means of using 
external intelligence to interpret and measure progress with the community.

PA R T N E R S H I P S : 
A L I G N M E N T

5 1 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

DATE: 26 OCTOBER 2020  

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, 
CHAIRMANSHIPS AND EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: N/A 

REPORT AUTHOR: MONITORING OFFICER 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 
 
To consider the following appointments for the remainder of the 2020/21 Municipal Year: 
 

(a) Membership of Committees (including provision for substitutes where applicable) 

(Appendix A) 

(b) Appointment of Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Committees (Appendix B) 

(c) Appointments to external organisations (Appendix C) 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Council: 

1.  Approves the membership of the Committees and arrangements for substitutes as 
set out in Appendix A (to follow).  Such appointees to hold office whilst they remain 
Members of the Council, until the next Annual Meeting of the Council, or until the 
appointment of their successors; 

2.  Considers the nominations for appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of 
Committees set out at Appendix B (to follow).  Such appointees to hold office whilst 
they remain Members of the Council, until the next Annual Meeting of the Council, or 
until the appointment of their successors;  

3.  Appoints Members to serve as the Council’s representatives on those external 
organisations where the Council is the appointing body, set out in Appendix C (to 
follow), to hold office whilst they remain Members of the Council, until the next Annual 
Meeting of the Council, or until the appointment of their successors. 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To review the appointments to Committees, Chairmanships and External Organisations for 
the remainder of 2019-20 as an AGM was not held in May 2020 due to the covid-19 
pandemic. 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 3



 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
To continue with current appointments until the next Annual Meeting of the Council. 
 
 

 

REPORT 
 
1. Introduction 

1.1 Due to the covid-19 pandemic an AGM was not held in May 2020 where 
appointments to committees, chairmanships and external organisations would 
traditionally have been reviewed. 

1.2 At the meeting of the Council held on 10 June 2020, the Leader made a commitment 
to review these appointments at the Council meeting later in the 2020/21 municipal 
year.  

2. Membership of Committees and Panels (with named substitutes where 
appropriate) 

2.1 A list of nominations for the Committees (including named substitutes where 
appropriate) as put forward by the respective Group Leaders, is set out at Appendix 
A.  To follow once nominations have been received. 

 
2.2 The Council is recommended to approve the membership of Committees for 

the remainder of 2020/2021. Where appropriate the proposed allocation and 
distribution of seats complies with the political balance requirements of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. In other cases the allocation of seats 
is governed by the Constitution or Council resolution.  

 
2.3 Licensing / Regulatory and Appeals Committee. The membership of the two 

committees is identical so that continuity can be achieved. Members should note that 
the Regulatory Committee will meet approximately four times per year and, for the 
convenience of Members, will meet on the rising of the Licensing Committee.  No 
substitutes are to be allowed on either Committee.  Although no substitutes are 
permitted on either of these committees, this constraint is reflected in the size of both 
committees (11 members each).   Professional advice is that substitution should not 
be permitted on Licensing Committees.  Recent case law also suggests that 
members of the Executive should not sit on a Committee that discharges 2003 
licensing functions.  

 
2.4 The Constitution provides for substitutes (where applicable) as follows:- 
  
 “For the Planning Committee, the Council will appoint the same number of named 

substitutes in respect of each political group as that group holds ordinary seats on 
those committees, up to a maximum of 2.” 

 
 It is recommended that there be named substitutes for the Audit and Governance 

Committee as Members are required to undertake specific training prior to sitting on 
the Committee.  

 

Page 88



 
 

 Open substitution will be permitted in the case of other Member groups and bodies 
(i.e. committees, panels, consultative committees and working groups) provided the 
appropriate form is completed prior to the meeting. 

 
Substitute Councillors will not be permitted for meetings of the Cabinet. 

 
 

3. Appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen 

3.1 A list of the nominations for the positions of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of 
Committees is attached at Appendix B.  To follow once nominations have been 
received. 

 
3.2 Members are reminded that District Audit has previously recommended that at least 

one Chairmanship of the Scrutiny Committees should be allocated to an opposition 
group member.  

 
3.3 This arrangement is reflected in the Scrutiny and Policy Development Protocol 

agreed by Council, which states: 
 

“Where a majority group (or coalition) controls the Council, the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee should be from an opposition group.” 

 
3.4 The Council is recommended to appoint Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of 

Committees for the remainder of 2020/21 as set out in Appendix B; to hold 
office until the next Annual Meeting of the Council, or until the appointment of 
their successors. 

 
3.5 The remainder of the appointments of Chairmen and Vice Chairmen will be made at 

the first meeting of the appropriate committee, i.e. BTAC and the Councillor 
Development Group. 

 

 
4. Appointments to External Organisations 

6.1 All Members of the Council, via the Political Group Leaders or individually, have been 
invited to indicate their interest in being considered for annual appointment/ re-
appointment as the Council’s representative on the various external organisations on 
which the Borough Council is represented.  

 
6.2 Expressions of interest received to date are set out in Appendix C. To follow once 

nominations have been received. 
 
6.3 The Council is recommended to appoint representatives to serve on the 

external organisations listed in Appendix C; such appointments to hold good 
only whilst they remain Members of the Council, until the next Annual Meeting 
of the Council, or until the appointment of their successors. 

 
 

Page 89



 
 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

 

LEGAL AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
To meet the provisions as set out in the Council’s Constitution. 
 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
Monitoring Officer 
Group Leaders 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX A – TO FOLLOW Membership of Committees 2020/21 

APPENDIX B – TO FOLLOW Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees 2020/21 

APPENDIX C – TO FOLLOW Appointments to External Organisations 2020/21 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were 
used in the production of this report. 
 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



 

 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES 
(INCLUDING SUBSTITUTES) – 2020/21 

(OCTOBER 2020) 
 

* Asterisk indicates that the political balance rules apply  

No asterisk indicates political balance not required, numbers stated are suggested allocations 

 

* OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY – ENVIRONMENT & PERFORMANCE (11) 
(MEETS 8 WEEKLY - TUESDAY – 6.30 P.M.) 

 

 
CONS 

(5) 
IND 
(2) 

IND GROUP 2 
(2) 

INDS 20/20  
(1) 

LABOUR  
(1) 

1. CORNAH A AUSTIN DORRIAN BEDFORD GOODALE 

2. DANI WELBOURN HASTIE   

3. EVANS     

4. J. SKINNER     

5. TRAFFORD     

 
 
 

*OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY– CORPORATE & COMMUNITY (11) 
(MEETS 8 WEEKLY – THURSDAY – 6.30 P.M.) 

 

 CONS  
(5) 

IND  
(2) 

IND GROUP 2 
(2) 

INDS 20/20  
(1) 

LABOUR  
(1) 

1. ASHTON HOWARD DORRIAN WOODLIFFE BELL 

2. CORNAH WELBOURN HASTIE   

3. DANI     

4. EVANS     

5. PICKETT     

 

 

 

 

  

Page 91



 

 

 

* AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE (9) 
(MEETS 8 WEEKLY – MONDAY – 6.30 P.M. 

 

 CONS 
(5) 

IND 
(2) 

IND GROUP 2 
(2) 

IINDS 20/20 
(0) 

LABOUR 
(0) 

1. ASHTON A AUSTIN WATSON   

2. BROWN HOWARD WOODCOCK   

3. CORNAH     

4. DANI     

5. PICKETT     

Substitutes:      

1.  WELBOURN    
 

STANDARDS SUB COMMITTEE (5) 
(Drawn from Membership of the Audit and Governance Committee) 

 

 CONS 
(3) 

IND 
(1) 

IND GROUP 2 
(1) 

INDS 20/20 
(0) 

LABOUR 
(0) 

1. ASHTON HOWARD    

2. CORNAH     

3. PICKETT     

 

 

* PLANNING COMMITTEE (13) 
(MEETS 4 WEEKLY – TUESDAY – 10 A.M.) 

 

 CONS   
(7) 

IND  
(2) 

IND GROUP 2  
(2) 

INDS 20/20 
(1) 

LABOUR 
(1) 

1. ASHTON A AUSTIN RUSH BEDFORD GOODALE 

2. BROWN WELBOURN WATSON   

3. NOBLE     

4. PICKETT     

5. P. SKINNER     

6. STEVENS     

7. TRAFFORD     

Substitutes:      

1. CORNAH R AUSTIN HASTIE WOODLIFFE BELL 

2. EVANS     

Page 92



 

 

 

 

* LICENSING/REGULATORY & APPEALS COMMITTEES (11) 
(MEETS QUARTERLY – TUESDAY – 2 P.M.) 

 

 CONS  
(5) 

IND  
(2) 

IND GROUP 2 
(2) 

INDS 20/20 
(1) 

LABOUR  
(1) 

1. ASHTON A AUSTIN WOODCOCK WOODLIFFE BELL 

2. DANI WELBOURN    

3. EVANS     

4. PICKETT     

5. J. SKINNER     
 

No substitutes are permitted at either Licensing or 
Regulatory and Appeals Committees 

 
 

CHIEF OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PANEL (7) 
(Meets as required) 

 
 CONS  

(3) 
IND 
(1) 

IND GROUP 2 
(1) 

INDS 20/20 
(1) 

LABOUR 
(1) 

1. GRIGGS R AUSTIN DORRIAN BEDFORD GOODALE 

2. P.SKINNER     

3. WELTON     

Subs: ASHTON A AUSTIN    

 
 

INTERNATIONAL LINKS COMMITTEE (5) 
(ad hoc) 

 

 CONS  
(1) 

IND  
(1) 

IND GROUP 2 
(1) 

INDS 20/20 
(1) 

LABOUR 
(1) 

1. P. SKINNER R AUSTIN RUSH WOODLIFFE BELL 

      

 
(Chairman and Vice-Chairman appointed at first meeting of Committee) 

Page 93



 

 

 

SOUTH-EAST LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT STRATEGIC 
PLANNING COMMITTEE (3 and 3 substitutes) 

 
 CONS  

(2) 
IND  
(1) 

IND GROUP 2 
(0) 

INDS 20/20 
(0) 

LABOUR  
(0) 

1. ASHTON R AUSTIN    

2. BROWN     

Subs:      

1. NOBLE A AUSTIN    

2. P. SKINNER     

 
BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC) 

(MEETS 8 WEEKLY - WEDNESDAY 6.30 P.M.) 

 
(Membership is all town ward Members ex officio.  

Chairman and Vice Chairman appointed at first meeting of the Committee.) 
 

 CONS IND IND GROUP 2 INDS 20/20 LABOUR 

1. DANI A. AUSTIN DORRIAN WOODLIFFE BELL 

2. EVANS EDGE HASTIE  GOODALE 

3. GRIGGS  HOWARD RUSH   

4. STEVENS  WOODCOCK   

 

COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT GROUP (9) 
(MEETS QUARTERLY) 

 

 CONS  
(5) 

IND  
(1) 

IND GROUP 2 
(1) 

INDS 20/20 
(1) 

LABOUR  
(1) 

1. ASHTON WELBOURN WATSON BEDFORD GOODALE 

2. DANI     

3. J. SKINNER     

4. P. SKINNER     

5. STEVENS     

 
(Chairman and Vice-Chairman to be appointed at first meeting of Group) 

Page 94



  

 
BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

CHAIRMEN AND VICE CHAIRMEN OF COMMITTEES – 2020/2021 
 
 

 
 

BODY 

 
 

CHAIRMAN 

 
 

VICE-CHAIRMAN 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY –
ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
 

 
A DORRIAN 
J SKINNER 

 
J WELBOURN 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY – 
CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY 
 

 
S WOODLIFFE 

 
G CORNAH 

 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE 
 

 
T ASHTON 

 
M HOWARD 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 
T ASHTON 

 
A AUSTIN 

P WATSON 
 

 
LICENSING COMMITTEE / 
REGULATORY AND APPEALS 
COMMITTEE 
 

 
F PICKETT 

 
D EVANS 

WOODCOCK 

 
BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE 
(BTAC) 
 

 
TO BE APPOINTED  
AT FIRST MEETING 

 
TO BE APPOINTED 
AT FIRST MEETING 

 
COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT GROUP 

 
TO BE APPOINTED  
AT FIRST MEETING 

 
TO BE APPOINTED 
AT FIRST MEETING  

 

 

 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

COUNCIL REPRESENTATION ON EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS 

ANNUAL APPOINTMENTS 2020-21 

 
Oversubscribed organisation 
 

Organisation Period of 
Appointment 

 Previous 
Appointees 

Nominees 

Bicker Trust Civic Year Cooper Cooper 

Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board 
(7 members) 

Civic Year Ashton 
R. Austin  
Bedford  
Cooper 
Pickett 

P. Skinner 
Mr. M. Brookes 
(Lay member) 

Ashton  
R. Austin 
Bedford 
Cooper 
Pickett 
Rush 

P. Skinner 
Watson 

Mr. M. Brookes 
(Lay member) 

Boston Citizens Advice Bureau 
Management Committee (2 seats) 
 

Civic Year Cooper 
Griggs 

Griggs 

Boston Municipal Non-Educational 
Charities (4 seats) 

Civic Year Woodliffe 
Colin Brotherton 
(Lay member) 

Woodliffe 
Colin Brotherton 
(Lay member) 

Centrepoint Outreach Civic Year Welbourn Welbourn 

Council for the Protection of Rural 
England (Lincs Branch) 
 

Civic Year P. Skinner P. Skinner 

Heritage Lincolnshire Civic Year Welton R. Austin 

Lincolnshire County Council Health 
Scrutiny Committee 
(1 seat and 1 substitute – non Cabinet 

members) 

Civic Year Woodliffe 
Hastie 

(substitute member) 

Woodliffe 

Lincolnshire County Council Flood 
and Water Management Scrutiny 
Committee  (non Cabinet members) 

Civic Year R. Austin 
Pickett 

(substitute member) 

R. Austin 
Pickett 

(substitute 
member) 

Nacro Services in Lincolnshire Civic Year Welbourn Welbourn 

Rural Services Network (SPARSE 
Rural, Rural Services Partnership, 
RSN Community Group) 
 

Civic Year Cooper 
Welton 

Ashton 
Brown 

Sir Thomas Meddlecott and Others 
Charity Trust (Skirbeck Quarter 
Charities) (3 Trustees) 

Civic Year A. Austin 
Woodliffe 

Mr R Lenton 
(Lay member) 

A Austin 
Woodliffe 
Mr R Lenton 
(Lay 
member) 
 

Page 97



Organisation Period of 
Appointment 

Previous 
Appointees 

Nominees 

Swineshead Poor Charity Civic Year Cornah Cornah 

 

Wash and North Norfolk Partnership 
Members Group (1 seat and 1 
substitute) 

Civic Year Stevens 
A. Austin 

(substitute member) 
 

A Austin 
Stevens 

(substitute 
Member) 

Witham Fourth District Internal 
Drainage Board (7 members) 

 R. Austin 
Bedford 
Cooper 
Pickett 

P. Skinner 
Spencer 

Woodcock 

R. Austin 
Bedford 
Hastie 
Pickett 

P. Skinner 
Welton 

Woodcock 
Mrs. P. Cooper 
(Lay member) 

 

 
 

PART 2 – LONG TERM APPOINTMENTS 

 

Organisation Period of 
Appointment 

Current / Previous 
Appointees 

Nominees 

Boston Grammar School 
Foundation Governors  (4 seats) 

4 years from 
2019 

A. Austin 
Griggs 

Woodliffe 
Mrs S. Cooper  
(Lay member) 

Not applicable 
until May 2023 

John Butler Charity 3 years from 
2017 

 

Cornah Cornah 

Lincolnshire Police and Crime 
Panel 

4 years from 
2016 

 

Woodliffe Woodliffe 

St. Leonard’s Hospital Trust 
(2 Trustees) 
 

4 years from 
appointment  

Griggs (May 2019) 
Noble (May 2019) 

  

Not applicable 
until May 2023 

Thomas Sanderson Trust (2 
seats) 

4 years from 
2019 

Brotherton 
Ernest Napier  
(lay member) 

 

Not applicable 
until May 2023 

Welland and Deepings IDB 3 years from 
2017 

 

Cooper Cooper 

W H and E Harlock Swineshead 
Almshouses Charity 
 

3 years from 
2017 

Trafford Trafford 

Swineshead Enhancement 
Society 

4 years from 
2019 

Trafford Not applicable 
until May 2023 

 

 

Page 98


	Agenda
	A. MINUTES
	Council Minutes - 10 August 2020 - Ordinary Meeting

	1 REFERRAL FROM CALL-IN  - PE21 THE NEXT STEPS
	Appendix A. Excerpt from Cabinet Minute
	Appendix B. Call In Form
	Appendix C. CCC.  Call In Draft Minute

	2 TOWN INVESTMENT PLAN
	Appendix A. Boston TIP

	3 REVIEW OF APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, CHAIRMANSHIPS AND EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS
	Appendix A. Membership of Committees
	Appendix B. Chairmen and VCs 2020 2021
	Appendix C. Appointments of External Representatives


